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Table 1

Carlow  139
Cavan  38
Cork  606
Donegal 129
Dublin   886
Galway 188
Kerry  156
Kilkenny 18
Laois  156
Leitrim  10
Limerick 83
Longford 137

Louth  237
Mayo  122
Meath  43
Monaghan 12
Offaly   55
Roscommon 25
Sligo   142
Tipperary 220
Waterford 131
Westmeath 4
Wexford 126
Wicklow 1

Table 2 

Carlow  622
Cork  139
Dublin  188
Galway 48
Kerry  8
Laois  84

Louth  74
Mayo  26
Meath  42
Offaly  8
Waterford  32

3,664 properties 
delivered to Clúid’s 
tenants since 1994 

1,271 properties  
managed by Clúid 
on behalf of third  
party owners 

About Clúid

1   Clúid’s housing management and tenant services include: ensuring that dwellings are well maintained; collecting rent; 
and ensuring that the environment within its housing estates is maintained to the highest standard. All have a dedicated 
Housing Officer responsible for repairs, rents and other issues concerning tenants and the estate. Some schemes have 
local staff such as caretakers, scheme managers or wardens.

2   As a management agent, Clúid provides practical maintenance and general management of properties and their environs.

Clúid Housing Association (Clúid) is a not-
for-profit organisation, leading the way in 
delivering high quality, affordable homes to 
people in housing need all over Ireland.

Since its establishment in 1994, Clúid has 
made available a total of 3,664 houses and 
apartments, providing housing to low income 
families and single people, older people, 
people with a disability and Traveller families  
all over Ireland (see Table 1). 

Clúid provides housing management and 
tenant services1 to these properties and 1,271 
additional properties that are owned by others 
(such as local authorities or developers – see 
Table 2). Clúid also provides a management 
agent2 service to an additional 221 properties.

Clúid is heavily involved in enabling people  
to create thriving communities and involved  
in a number of annual and on-going  
community and estate development  
projects around the country.

Clúid is continuing to develop and promote 
innovative housing policy initiatives. This role 
is particularly important in recent times, as 
government housing policy has undergone 
significant changes. 

Housing Delivery p.33 
Delivering homes to those most in need

Housing Policy p.49 
Developing and promoting innovative  
policy initiatives

Quality Housing p.53 
Ensuring the highest quality housing  
and customer service for residents

Thriving Communities p.57 
Enabling residents to create  
thriving communities.

About Clúid
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A Great Place to Work.
In 2012, Clúid employees were asked to 
complete a Great Place to Work® survey, 
in an effort to determine the true value 
of, and confidence in Clúid’s vision and 
mission. As a result of this survey, Clúid 
was recognised as one of Ireland’s best 
workplaces. Some findings from this  
survey are highlighted throughout  
this annual report with this symbol. 

Housing waiting lists, Housing  
Associations and Clúid
Capital spending on the provision of social 
housing in Ireland was cut by a huge 72% 
between 2008 and 2012 – from €1.38bn 
to €390m. The former grant-funded social 
housing programmes were no longer possible, 
due a dearth of exchequer finance. Local 
authority housing waiting lists increased by 
75% between 2008 and 2011 – from 56,249  
to 98,318.

The Government’s Housing Policy Statement, 
published in June 2011 placed housing 
associations ‘at the heart of the government’s 
vision for social housing provision’. This marked 
a major change in Irish housing policy and 
created a very exciting challenge for Clúid 
and the housing association sector. Clúid has 
been to the forefront of driving innovation 
and transforming housing provision. At a time 
of huge government cutbacks and growing 
housing waiting lists, the need for good quality, 
affordable housing has never been greater and 
Clúid is determined to meet that need.

Financing Clúid 
To deliver on its social mission in 
the long term, Clúid must remain 
financially strong. Clúid is a not-for-profit 
organisation, focused on ensuring its 
resources are best utilised to enable it to 
continue to supply high quality housing 
to existing and future tenants.

Clúid’s vision is of:
A society where everyone has a  

great place to live

The context for this choice is that ‘a great 
place to live’ means more than just bricks and 
mortar. It also denotes a sense of place and 
community. It values appropriate location 
in creating sustainable communities. It is an 
aspirational vision and is, to some degree, 
subjective. It is not for Clúid to define ‘a 
great place to live’. This is something for the 
individual to feel and declare. 

Clúid’s mission is:
Providing quality housing and services  

to enable people to create homes and  

thriving communities

This reflects Clúid’s core business in terms of 
providing accommodation and services, in 
order to ensure successful tenancies and great 
customer experiences. It acknowledges that 
Clúid does not provide the homes. Clúid’s 
tenants create the homes and help to develop 
the communities. Clúid provides good quality 
services and, in this way, greatly enhances the 
sense of ‘home’ and ‘community’.

Clúid’s values are: 

Professionalism

Clúid drives up standards, through a 
commitment to high-quality services, 
continuous improvement and investment  
in its people.

Innovation

Clúid works at the forefront of the sector, 
focusing on solutions and innovating in a 
constantly changing Ireland.

Respect

Clúid’s work is underpinned by a mutual 
respect and trust between customers, staff and 
managers. Clúid listens to and learns from its 
customers and staff and recognises those staff 
who go the extra mile.

Collaboration

Clúid values partnerships in achieving the best 
outcomes. Clúid is open, co-operative and easy 
to do business with.

Sustainability

Clúid ensures that all its activity is socially, 
financially and environmentally sustainable.

About Clúid
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Photos of  
Killarney, where  
Sheila is from

A Christmas present 
from one of Sheila’s 
granddaughters – 
particularly special 
because she didn’t 
have much money  
at the time.

Sheila makes  
cakes for weekly  
coffee morning  
and exercise class.

Family photos 
4 children, 12 
grandchildren 
and 14 great 
grandchildren!

Ashtray – but Sheila  
doesn’t let Mick  
smoke indoors.

Sheila and  

Mick Manhire

Clúid’s Sheltered Housing Scheme,  
Holy Cross Gardens, Killarney 

6 and 1, also  
Mick's nickname.  
Mick has been to  
every greyhound  
track in Britain.

Mick loves to  
read non-fiction  
crime novels.

Mick is always 
watching antique  
road shows  
on the TV.

All of Sheila’s  
old diaries 
brought over 
from the UK

Mick was an undertaker  
in London. He still  
wears his suit on  
special occasions.

Sheila and Mick Manhire’s home

Wedding photos over 
here – Sheila and 
Mick’s 60th wedding 
anniversary is in 2013.

Photos of 
Battersea
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Mick: “On a slow walk you can be in town 
in seven minutes”.
Sheila: “And the scenery”.
Mick: “The scenery is unparalleled”.

Tell me about your neighbours. 
Mick: “Over a period of living here you 
know who you’re likely to see early in 
the morning. When we arise I’m always 
awake first. I put on my hat and coat and 
I go and get the paper. On the way out I 
know there are two people I’m likely to see 
either going up for a milk or a pan. So if it’s 
bad weather I offer them a lift up there and 
back. More often than not I get a refusal 
anyway because people here are fiercely 
independent. There’s one lady here that I 
get papers for on the weekend. She walks 
with a frame. And when she comes into 
the coffee morning on a Tuesday she pays 
my wife for the paper. And she’s the oldest 
one here isn’t she?”
Sheila: “92. And she’s marvellous”.
Mick: “Oh she’s sharp as a tack, she is. 
Really sharp”.
Sheila: “They're a very nice bunch of 
people here. We’re very lucky”.

Kathleen told me that if you have too 
much food you leave it out for your 
neighbours?
Sheila: “Yes we do. We feed the nation!”
Mick: “There are people here who have 
only got a pension. And if you have good 
food there and you know there’s someone 
who will appreciate it, why not give it  
to them”.

Sheila: “I always say ‘you won’t be 
offended?’ and they say ‘No no no’. 
They’re only grateful for it. We do the  
best we can”.

What other community events do you 
get involved in?
Mick: “There was no coffee morning when 
we came here. Kathleen approached my 
wife and said ‘we’re thinking of doing a 
coffee morning’. So she makes the cakes".
Sheila: "I make a cake every week for the 
coffee morning and the exercise class. 
Sometimes I make apple pie. It depends 
what mood I’m in. I also do the exercise 
class on a Thursday morning for half an 
hour. Thursday afternoon we have art class. 
A resident teaches the art class, another 
resident takes the exercise class, and the 
coffee morning is done by Kathleen and 
another resident”. 

Do you feel like you benefit from the 
support services here?
Mick: “We’re still active. Most of them 
here need some assistance but we’re free 
from all that”.
Sheila: “Yeah we’re lucky. Touch wood. 
Considering we’re both in our 80s. Mick’s 
very active for his age. He’ll go out 
washing cars and helping people, running 
here, there and everywhere”.
Mick: “The way I see it you can be 
surrounded by all the causes and good 
bodies but, no matter what age you 
are, you really have to help yourself and 
contribute to get the best out of life”. 

In conversation with Lucinda McNally, Clúid Housing Association

Sheila and Mick Manhire are an active, 
healthy couple in their early eighties 
who live very independently in Clúid’s 
sheltered housing scheme in Holy Cross 
Gardens, Killarney. From baking  
cakes for the coffee mornings to 
leaving dinners wrapped up in tinfoil 
on their neighbour’s windowsill, these 
two residents play an important role 
in bringing neighbours together and 
making the community what it is today.

As I pull up to the scheme I can’t help 
but feel mesmerised by the picturesque 
setting. Holy Cross Gardens is an intimate 
community, framed by picture perfect 360 
degree views of tall rugged mountains. 
No matter where you stand you feel part 
of something as the 45 houses enclose 
colourful communal courtyards with 
stunning gardens and inviting sitting areas. 

The first door resembles a home like the 
others but is, in fact, the office of Kathleen 
Cahill, Clúid’s Scheme Manager. When I 
arrive, Kathleen is inviting residents in for a 
safety talk by a local Garda. There is a real 
buzz about the place. I’m offered a slice 
of what I’m told is ‘Sheila’s renowned fruit 
cake’. I immediately come to realise that 
Sheila must be a popular neighbour here.

Sheila Manhire, aged 82, invites  
me into her home next door, where  
she introduces me to her husband  
Mick, aged 83. He proudly invites  
me to take a seat in their cosy living  
room, which is covered in photos of  
their four children, 12 grandchildren  
and 14 great grandchildren. 

Sheila tells me that she moved over to  
the UK in the forties to look for work.  
It was there that she met Mick, a native  
of London. 

Mick: “When we first met we’d go out and 
walk right down the Edgeware Road and 
all the way up Oxford Street and Regent 
Street, around all the big stores and 
shops, window shopping! We daren’t walk 
through the door. We hadn’t a penny!”

Sheila and Mick moved back to Sheila’s 
home town in 2008. 

So when did you start thinking about 
returning to Ireland?
Mick:”It’s been constant since she  
moved over!”
Sheila: “About 10 years ago. We came 
home for our 50th wedding anniversary 
and I decided then that I’d like to come 
home. One day I saw this advert from the 
Safe Home Programme* inviting  
applicants to return to Ireland so  
I wrote them a letter”.

Were you thinking you’d like to live in a 
sheltered housing scheme like this one?
Sheila: “No. It was just to come home to 
Killarney. And I’d heard good things about 
these sheltered housing schemes. We 
had a look at one of the homes before we 
came back and we loved it”. 

Do you like living here now?
Sheila: “Oh I love it absolutely. I wouldn’t 
swap it for the world. Lovely to be back 
home. I love the community. We’re 
blessed with neighbours. And I love  
where we’re situated”. 

Sheila and Mick Manhire’s home

*  The Safe Home programme is a national organisation that aims to assist older Irish born emigrants wishing to return to Ireland.
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A New Funding Model 

for Housing Provision

Repayment of loan  
to financial institution

Availability  
payment from 
Government*

€€

€

loan from  
financial institution70% 

30% loan from  
Government

* An availability payment is an agreement to allow the local authority nominating rights to the properties in return for a payment.

Clúid’s Income and Expenditure 2012 
For further information please see the Director’s Report on p.63. 

Income 2012 

79.4% Rental income
11.2%  Management and  

maintenance allowances
4.6%  Treasury income
4.8%  Other income

Rents payable are based on a proportion  
of household income and, so, are  
always affordable.

Management and maintenance allowances 
are a subsidy paid under the old Capital Loan 
and Subsidy Scheme that contribute to the cost 
of housing management and maintenance. 
This scheme has been discontinued but the 
subsidies continue to be paid.
 
Treasury income is income from cash deposits. 
Clúid’s proactive treasury management ensures 
that it is adequately funded to meet its future 
obligations and to ensure that its properties 
continue to provide quality accommodation 
throughout their lifecycle. 

Expenditure 2012
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

48.5%  Housing management
37.5% 94 employees 
14%  Office related costs

Housing management includes ensuring the 
upkeep of properties and environs, responding 
to tenants' repair needs, collecting rents, 
reinvesting in the longevity of properties  
and environs and community development.
 
A key focus for Clúid in 2012 was to increase 
its capacity in preparation for driving growth in 
housing stock in the future. Clúid invests in its 
94 employees who continue to:
   Provide homes to those in housing need
    Keep tenants’ properties and estates in  

tip top condition
   Respond to tenants’ needs
    Advocate on their behalf at local and 

national level
    Enable tenants to be central to  

their community
    Create opportunities for tenants in 

education, employment and local projects
   Inform and break down stereotypes.

%
Income

% 
Expenditure

An analysis of this new funding model is referenced on p.34 and 
throughout this annual report, to highlight how housing delivery was 
financed in 2012 and how need for housing can be met in the future. 

Rent
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David Burke
Chairperson of Board

Lorraine Nolan
Secretary of the Board

Principles of Good Governance

We, the Board of Clúid Housing  
Association commit to:

Principle 1. Leading our organisation
We do this by:
1.1  Agreeing our vision, purpose and values 

and making sure that they remain relevant
1.2  Developing, resourcing, monitoring and 

evaluating a plan to make sure that our 
organisation achieves its stated purpose

1.3  Managing, supporting and holding to 
account staff, volunteers and all who act 
on behalf of the organisation.

Principle 2. Exercising control over  
our organisation
We do this by:
2.1  Identifying and complying with all relevant 

legal and regulatory requirements
2.2  Making sure there are appropriate internal 

financial and management controls
2.3  Identifying major risks for our organisation 

and deciding ways of managing the risks.

Principle 3. Being transparent  
and accountable
We do this by:
3.1  Identifying those who have a legitimate 

interest in the work of our organisation 
(stakeholders) and making sure there is 
regular and effective communication with 
them about our organisation

3.2  Responding to stakeholders’ questions or 
views about the work of our organisation 
and how we run it

3.3  Encouraging and enabling the 
engagement of those who benefit from 
our organisation in the planning and 
decision-making of the organisation.

 
 
Principle 4. Working effectively
We do this by:
4.1  Making sure that our governing body, 

individual board members, committees, 
staff and volunteers understand their role, 
legal duties, and delegated responsibility 
for decision-making

4.2  Making sure that, as a Board, we exercise 
our collective responsibility through Board 
meetings that are efficient and effective

4.3  Making sure that there are suitable  
Board recruitment, development and 
retirement processes in place.

Principle 5. Behaving with integrity
We do this by:
5.1 Being honest, fair and independent
5.2  Understanding, declaring and  

managing conflicts of interest  
and conflicts of loyalties

5.3  Protecting and promoting our 
organisation’s reputation.

We confirm that our organisation is 
committed to the standards outlined in  
these principles.

We commit to reviewing our organisational 
practice against the recommended actions  
for each principle every year.

 
 
 
 
 
 

24th April 2013

Governance

The Governance Code
On the 28th of June 2012, the Governance 
Code for community, voluntary and charity 
organisations in Ireland was formally launched. 
The purpose of the Governance Code is 
to promote high standards of governance 
and transparency within the voluntary and 
charitable sector. 

Demonstrating high governance standards 
to stakeholders is particularly important in 
the absence of adequate regulation for the 
voluntary sector, so Clúid’s Board very much 
welcomed the Governance Code. 

As part of its initial adoption process in 2012, 
Clúid measured itself against the principles 
and actions set out in the Governance Code 
checklist, identifying the outstanding actions 
which were required to bring Clúid in line with 
the Code. Overall, the adoption journey has 
been a positive and empowering process. It 
reaffirmed the good practices and procedures 
already in place, and identified some gaps in 
policy and procedures. 

The initial adoption phase has been 
completed. To finalise the process, the  
Board passed a resolution on April 24, 2013 
confirming that Clúid is compliant with the 
Code and is committed to upholding  
its principles. 

This does not mean that Clúid’s work on the 
Governance Code is finished. Clúid’s next 
challenge is to ensure it continues to comply 
with the Code’s requirements and, where 
appropriate, to build upon and exceed those 

requirements. The Code has also given Clúid 
an invaluable toolkit to integrate governance 
into its day-to-day activities and leaves Clúid 
very well placed with any future regulation 
which may be introduced for the voluntary 
housing sector. 

Clúid strongly believes that an organisation 
can only be truly compliant with the terms and 
spirit of the Code if it is willing to submit its 
compliance to external scrutiny and oversight. 
This review will give greater credibility to the 
Code and assurance that all organisations who 
declare themselves compliant are operating  
in accordance with the same high standards  
of governance.

Building upon the key principle of transparency 
and accountability enshrined within the Code, 
Clúid requested its auditors to review its 
adoption and on-going implementation of 
the Governance Code.

In compliance with the Governance Code,  
Clúid is proud to confirm the following:
  
“ We comply with the Governance Code 
for community, voluntary and charitable 
organisations in Ireland. We confirm that  
a review of our organisation’s compliance 
with the principles in the Code was 
conducted on March 14th 2013. This 
review was based on an assessment of 
our organisational practice against the 
recommended actions for each principle.  
The review sets out actions and completion 
dates for any issues that the assessment 
identifies as needing to be addressed”.

Governance
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Chair: David Burke
In 2012, David became Chair of Clúid’s Board. David is currently a 
Programme Manager with the community funding not-for-profit,  
Pobal. Previously David worked for over 20 years with housing and 
homeless organisations both in the UK and Ireland. David worked for 
many years with the national homeless charity, Focus Ireland in a number 
of senior management positions, including leading their  
housing development programme. 
 

Vice Chair: Cormac Kennedy
Cormac is Head of Group Property with Easons. Cormac is part of  
the Eason executive team, with specific responsibility for the 
company’s considerable property portfolio, both North and South  
of the Border. He first joined the Board while a Director with CBRE,  
the international property company. Cormac brings commercial  
property experience to the Board.

Treasurer: Penelope Kenny 
Penelope is the Treasurer of Clúid and chairs its Finance and Audit 
Committee. She is a Chartered Accountant and Financial Controller with 
expertise in finance and corporate governance. She is principal in Arts 
Governance, consulting to the Arts and cultural sector. Penelope holds a 
Masters degree in Cultural Policy and Arts Management from University 
College Dublin, with a specific focus on Corporate Governance. She is 
a former Council member of the Institute and Chairman of the Leinster 
Society of Chartered Accountants.
 
Maura Connolly
Maura is the Founder and Director of Connolly Mescall Chartered 
Surveyors. Maura has worked for over 25 years in construction and 
development in both the public and private sector. She has been 
involved in many significant construction projects. She is a fellow of both 
the Society of Chartered Surveyors and the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors, as well as a member of the Institute of Arbitrators. 

Peter Fullam
Peter is a professional accountant. He has been a Director of many 
private and public companies including AT & T, Diageo and Irish Life. 
Peter is also a Director of Nás na Ríogh Housing Association and 
Chairman of Naas Credit Union. Peter brings extensive knowledge of 
the corporate financial world to the Board. Peter Chairs the Growing 
Our Business committee. 

Governance in Clúid:  
Clúid’s Memorandum and  
Articles of Association
Clúid is a private company limited by 
guarantee. Its principal governing  
document is its Memorandum and Articles  
of Association. Clúid’s primary objectives are  
set out in its Articles of Association and can be 
summarised as: 
    Providing housing and amenities  

for those in need
    Providing housing for people with  

special needs
    Providing services, advice etc. to  

people with special needs in relation  
to repairs, improvements and  
maintenance of property

    Estate management of properties  
let by Clúid

    Providing recreational and leisure  
facilities to benefit communities

   Regeneration
   Supporting other voluntary bodies.

Clúid’s Board:
Clúid’s board members are all non-executive 
directors drawn from diverse business and 
professional backgrounds in order to bring a 
broad range of skills and experiences to the 
Board. An induction process is provided for 
each new board member. The Board regularly 
reviews its composition to ensure that it has 
the requisite skills, experience and diversity 
to continue to function effectively. The Board 
also reviews its own performance and that 
of its sub-committees on an annual basis. 
Under Clúid’s Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, board members cannot receive 
remuneration for any services to Clúid and  
may only be reimbursed for incidental 
expenses incurred.

The role of Clúid’s Board 
While Clúid’s management team is responsible 
for preparing items such as policy, budgets 
and strategic planning for consideration and 
approval by the Board, ultimately it is the Board 
who is responsible for providing leadership, 
setting strategy and ensuring control. Clúid 
has a comprehensive process for reporting 
information to the Board, including an agreed 
set of key performance indicators. 

Clúid’s Board Members 
Clúid is extremely fortunate to have individuals 
on its Board who have a keen interest in the 
work of the organisation. Board members 
have a broad range of skills and experiences 
through their diverse business and professional 
backgrounds, including working at the leading 
edge of the property industry. Clúid’s board 
brings the outside world into the organisation, 
continually testing Clúid’s activities against  
best practice and applying a useful reality 
check to proposals.

All board members are appointed for a  
term of four years. A retiring board member 
may offer themselves for re-election. In  
January 2012, Simon Brooke resigned as  
a board member.  

At the 2012 AGM, the following elections of 
board members took place:
    David Burke and Martin Farrelly retired as 

board members and were re-elected.
    Deirdre O’Connor (who had been elected 

as a board member after the previous year’s 
AGM) was re-elected. 

    Rachel Murphy, John O’Beirne and Andrew 
O’Flanagan were elected board members 
for the first time.

    Cormac Kennedy was elected to the vacant 
position of Vice Chair.

Governance
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Rachel Murphy
Rachel relocated to Ireland in 2012. She was, until 2012, the 
Head of Brand Management at Shelter, the leading UK homeless 
charity. Rachel has also worked in the private sector with 
the leading drinks company Diageo. In both the private and 
public sectors Rachel has carried responsibility for significant 
budgetary and important strategic campaigns. While at Shelter, 
she participated in a number of award winning advertising and 
awareness campaigns. 

Fiona Barron
Fiona is Chief Executive of the Irish Property and Facility 
Managers Association (IPFMA) which represents members in the 
property and facility management industry. It was established 
under the auspices of the Society of Chartered Surveyors Ireland. 
Fiona is a former Director of O’Dwyer Property Management. 
Fiona ensures that Clúid is at the forefront of important new 
initiatives in property management. Fiona chairs the Serving Our 
Customers committee. 

John O’Beirne
John is currently Head of Credit Risk Analysis at Bank of Ireland 
Group. John has significant experience leading the implementation 
of best practice risk governance. John also worked in commercial 
real estate finance in the bank’s business in the UK. John’s 
experience in the UK, where debt finance is used extensively to fund 
housing association development, is of great assistance to Clúid in 
successfully navigating the introduction of similar processes in Ireland.

Andrew O’Flanagan
Andrew is a solicitor and is currently Head of Legal at the National 
Treasury Management Agency. Prior to that, he was Head of Legal at 
ESB and Chief Legal Officer of Bord Gáis Éireann and also worked in 
New York and London as a corporate lawyer with the Wall Street law 
firm, Davis Polk & Wardwell. A graduate of NUI Galway and Yale Law 
School, he is admitted to practice in Ireland and New York.

Martin Farrelly
Martin is a Human Resources Consultant, who works with many high 
profile Irish and international clients. Martin has previously worked 
in the Irish Management Institute and with McNamara’s where he 
was Head of Organisation Development. He brings extensive HR 
experience to the Board as well as a firm commitment to placing 
people at the centre of the three year strategy.

Chris White
Chris is currently Chief Executive of Boardmatch Ireland, which locates 
and places people on the Boards of non-profit organisations and aims 
to improve governance standards. In previous roles Chris worked as 
Head of Development with the Irish Council for Social Housing and 
was Chief Executive of the Sue Ryder Foundation. Chris began his 
housing career with the Guinness Housing Trust in the UK. Chris brings 
his considerable experience of non-profit housing and governance to  
the Board.

Derek McCabe
Derek is a Civil Engineer and has wide business interests across a 
range of areas including farming and forestry and has been actively 
involved in creating many successful community businesses. Derek is 
also currently Chair of Extern Northern Ireland and Extern Ireland, a 
charity which helps to improve the lives of adults and children facing 
challenging circumstances. Derek provides valuable guidance as Clúid 
develops social enterprise and engages further in supported housing.

3. Deirdre O’Connor resigned as Board member in March 2013.

Governance

Deirdre O’Connor3

Deirdre has been a Planning Consultant for 17 years. She is a 
Chartered Town Planner and Director of O’Connor Whelan Planning 
Consultants. Deirdre is also a corporate member of the Irish Planning 
Institute and a Chartered member of the Royal Town Planning 
Institute. Deirdre has assisted a number of local authorities in the 
preparation of Development Plans and Local Area Plans. Deirdre 
brings an important planning perspective to the Board. 
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Record of Board Meetings and Board Committee Meetings in 2012

The Board meets six times a year, or more regularly as required.  
Below is a record of the Board and Committee meetings  
attended by each of the directors in 2012:

Clúid’s Board meetings  
Attendance 2012

Fiona Barron 5/6

Simon Brooke 1/1

David Burke 6/6

Maura Connolly 4/6

Martin Farrelly 3/6

Peter Fulham 5/6

Cormac Kennedy 4/6

Penelope Kenny 6/6

Rachel Murphy 1/1

Derek McCabe 6/6

John O’Beirne 1/1

Deirdre O’Connor 6/6

Andrew O’Flanagan 0/1

Chris White 4/6

Clúid’s Committee meetings  
Attendance 2012

Building our capacity 

Martin Farrelly   4/4

Penelope Kenny   3/4 

Deirdre O’Connor   4/4

Chris White   2/4

Serving our customers 

Fiona Barron   4/4

David Burke   4/4

Derek McCabe   4/4

Growing our business 

Maura Connolly   3/4

Peter Fullam   4/4

Cormac Kennedy   4/4

Finance and audit 

Simon Brooke   1/1

David Burke   2/2

Peter Fullam   2/2

Penelope Kenny   3/3

Peter McDevitt   1/2

Clúid’s Board Committees
In 2012, the Board had three standing 
committees, which each met four times during 
the year to focus on one key area of Clúid’s 
operations. The committees are made up of 
board members and members of the Executive 
Team. Each committee has clearly defined 
terms of reference, as follows:

1. Building Our Capacity  
The focus of the Building Our Capacity 
committee is to develop business capacity by 
strengthening the existing organisation and 
supporting the development of new initiatives. 
The committee is tasked with maintaining 
oversight on organisational performance, risk 
management and governance. It is intended 
to stand down this committee and re-allocate 
its work as appropriate to the remaining 
committees and the Board.

2. Serving Our Customers
The Serving Our Customers committee is 
tasked with monitoring the development 
and enhancement of customer service to all 
Clúid customers, both internal and external. 
The committee is also responsible for the 
monitoring of performance reporting.

3. Growing Our Business 
The Growing Our Business committee is  
tasked with reviewing all types of new  
business and growth areas. This includes  
the acquisition and leasing of properties  
and the provision of services to third parties.

The Finance and Audit  
Committee in 2013
In addition, a separate Finance and Audit 
committee met twice during 2012 in order  
to oversee the audit and budget processes. 
Peter McDevitt is an external member of this 
committee. His role as an external member  
on the Finance and Audit committee is to 
ensure oversight. Peter is an Accountant and 
works for Self Help Africa, an NGO working 
in Africa to combat hunger and poverty.  
Peter has previously worked in financial 
management roles in the private sector and 
in a number of non-profit organisations. 
Peter is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Ireland and a Director of the 
Carmichael Centre.

It is intended that the Finance and Audit 
committee will re-convene as a standing 
committee in 2013.

Its overall role will be primarily strategic,  
policy orientated and directional. The 
committee will set Finance Strategy for Clúid, 
which will involve the identification and 
consideration of Clúid’s funding, its property 
purchasing and its reserving policies; as well as 
its major planned expenditures, in the context 
and consideration of current market trends and 
risks. The committee will also set out its policies 
in terms of risk, prudence, market forces and 
financial accounting policies. It will be the 
responsibility of the committee to assist and, 
where relevant, make recommendations to the 
Board on the discharge of its responsibilities, as 
they relate to external financial reporting and 
external and internal audits. The committee 
will ensure that an effective system of 
internal control, comprising financial control, 
operational controls and compliance and risk 
management, is maintained and operated.

Governance
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The Lizard Club

Adam's
House

Joan and Ben live up the hill. 
(Ann lives up here too!)

We used to sit on the wall over 
here and cheer on the cars going 
by and they’d beep at us. That 
was when we had nothing else to 
do before the club came along.

School over here.

Adam, Joan and Ben’s community

Adam, Joan  

and Ben

Participants of a Clúid community,  
Residents of Clúid’s housing scheme, 
Knock Riada, Chapelizod, Dublin 

Village this way.  
At Christmas we 
went around the 
village carol singing.

There’s a nursing 
home this way. We 
invited them to the 
club last year and 
entertained them.

Behind the community 
hall we used to play 
football before the 
club came along.

Last year we had a 
garden party over  
here. We had a marquee 
and everything.
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Joan and Ben opt for the other side of the 
room where a massive cupboard stretches 
across the length of the wall. Both pull back 
a door where we find a bunch of games 
and equipment. 

Ben: “We had a disco on Friday and we 
played musical chairs here”. 
Joan: “And we had pizza”. 
Ben: “Sometimes we have movie nights”. 
Adam: “It projects off the wall”. 

Do you know where the idea for this club 
came from? 
Joan: “My Mam and Ann and Noreen were 
thinking of something to do for the children 
because we were all getting bored. So me 
and my two friends were told to come up 
with a few ideas and I think other people 
were asked to as well so that’s how this 
place was made”.

What time do you come to the club at?
Adam: “We come in from 7.30-9. There’s 
one for the younger kids under six and 
that’s from 5-6. Then the volunteers clean 
up the mess the little ones make from 6-7 
and they let us in from 7.30pm. They’re 
planning on setting up a group for older 
people. They’re doing one for over 14”. 

Who’s your favourite volunteer here?
Joan: “My mam. My mam is amazing”!
Ben (whispers): “Is this just between us?  
I like Ann. She’s nice and I live beside her”. 

So what did you do the last time you 
were at the Lizard club? 
All: “Play the Wii”. 
Ben: “We got a Wii a few days ago with 
loads of games and two controllers. We 
bought it out of the money that they won 
for the Great Places to Live competition.
Adam: They asked us what we wanted to 
get so we decided a Wii”.

Are there a lot of fights over the Wii? 
Ben: “No. There’s a timetable and an  
egg timer!

Before my visit I would have never thought 
that an egg timer would make a vital 
piece of equipment for a children’s club! 
But the Lizard Club is now so popular that 
schedules and clocking devices ensure that 
everyone gets a chance to use the club. 
Volunteer residents spend a considerable 
amount of personal time in making this hub 
a great place to hang out for children in the 
neighbourhood. The residents are justly 
proud of their Great Places to Live award 
and if their commitment is anything to go 
by, the Lizard Club will be running for many 
years to come. 

Conversations took place with Lucinda McNally, Clúid Housing Association.

Knock Riada is a place where residents 
of all ages are central to, and active in, 
creating their own thriving community. As 
a large number of tenants living in this 36 
unit estate are children, residents came 
up with an idea - a club for Knock Riada 
children. Clúid supported this with an 
annual community grant and the Lizard 
Club opened in January 2011.

Set in the community centre on the estate, 
the club exemplifies tenant participation 
and has helped to bring the community 
to life. In 2012, residents were awarded 
first prize in the special project category of 
Clúid’s Great Places to Live competition for 
their work in running the Lizard Club.
Here is what three young people had to say 
about their club.
 
I meet with Adam (16), Joan (“going on 12 
in April”) and Ben (13), three residents of 
Knock Riada. 

Adam: “I’m here since I was 6”.
Joan: “Same”. 
Ben: “I’m only (makes an inverted comma 
hand signal) “new” here. I was here since  
I was 10. I had my tenth birthday here”. 
The Lizard Club isn’t running today and we 
sit in what I’m told is the ‘quiet room’. 
Adam: “People come into the quiet room 
and just sit and chill”.
Joan: “And the girls draw, mostly it’s  
‘I love Zayn’ or ‘I love Louis’ ‘cause 
everyone loves One Direction here.  
Well most of the girls anyway”. 

How often do you go to the Lizard Club?
Ben: “Every Monday for an hour and a 
half”.
Joan: “Same”. 

What do you think of the club?
Joan: “It’s ok”.
Ben: “It’s fun”.

I come to realise that it might take a little 
more to get some concrete answers. As all 
three repeatedly refer to the ‘main room’ 
through the door next to us I ask if we 
should go in to take a peek. I receive an 
enthusiastic “yeaaaa” from all three. 
Adam, Joan and Ben spring to life the 
moment we step inside the ‘main room’ 
and run in separate directions.

Ben: “There’s the Ping-Pong table”.
Joan: “We have a punching bag  
over there”. 
Adam: “There’s the kitchen. You get turns 
to bake every week. If you haven’t done it 
before you can do it. Just say Ben did it last 
week and I haven’t done it in three weeks, 
they’ll let me do it then”.
Ben: “Two people get to bake each week. 
We bake brownies, rocky roads”.
Joan: “Cakes”. 
Adam: “Noreen or Martina teaches us”.

Adam dives into the large leather sofa and 
pulls out the middle section of the couch 
to show me where he sits his drink in the 
convenient cup holders.
 

Adam, Joan and Ben’s community
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Chair’s Address

Clúid’s commitment to its purpose and 
convictions about how we go about our 
business ensure Clúid plays a leading role  
in creating the environment in which  
radical solutions are delivered and can  
thrive, even in the most demanding  
of circumstances.

Clúid exists to provide solutions to housing 
need on an individual, local and national 
basis, working in the context of a dramatic 
rise in demand. Local authorities, for example, 
now have over 100,000 families, couples and 
individuals on their housing waiting lists. 

Between 2008 and 2012, the Government’s 
social housing capital programme was cut 
drastically by 72% – down from €1.38bn to 
€390m. Instead of relying almost exclusively 
on capital grants, Clúid now uses the limited 
government funding available to leverage 
finance from other sources. This is a radical shift 
which has demanded new mechanisms and 
disciplines from Clúid and its national and local 
government sponsors and partners. 

Clúid has been taking a lead in dealing with 
this new environment. Clúid was the first not-
for-profit housing association to be approved 
for borrowing from the Housing Finance 
Agency, a government-owned, independent 
company that provides loan finance to local 
authorities and housing associations, using 
funds raised on the domestic and international 
capital markets. Clúid also piloted the national 
Mortgage to Rent scheme solution for 

households experiencing serious difficulties 
with their mortgages and is now actively 
exploring a number of other sources of  
private finance.

These solutions are complex innovations, 
involving a number of different stakeholders 
and requiring the distinctive expertise and  
scale that Clúid offers in its not-for-profit 
housing provision. In this report we share an 
analysis of the mechanisms behind our delivery 
of housing in 2012. The investment into this 
path finding is taking time to realise its full 
potential. However, Clúid is confident that, 
over the coming months and years, the pace 
of delivery will accelerate considerably.

This effort is part of Clúid’s strategic investment 
in deepening and underpinning our capacity 
and substance as an organisation. As the Board 
of Directors, we have been actively reviewing 
our composition and approach towards further 
strengthening the stewardship, support and 
scrutiny we provide to Clúid’s operations, 
competency and direction. 

Clúid is aware that lenders require assurance, 
not just from individual leaders such as Clúid, 
but through an effective regulatory framework 
for all that will assist the creation of a vibrant, 
sustainable, private finance model. Research 
commissioned by Clúid in 2012 validates 
its work in promoting and actively lobbying 
for a more enhanced regulatory framework 
for all providers of social housing. Clúid, 
therefore, strongly welcomed the publication, 

Chair’s Address

Clúid’s mission is to provide  

quality housing and services  

to enable people to create 

homes and thriving communities.
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Chief Executive’s Address

A torch has been passed to housing
associations, to become the main providers
of social housing. It is an opportunity that
Clúid Housing Association, wishing to act
according to its mission and values,
will take hold of and deliver upon.

If social housing provision is to continue  
then new ways of delivery have to be  
found. Processes are being put in place  
that challenge housing associations to take 
on this new mantle. It is this new role that 
demands an energetic response. 

This response must be framed firmly within 
the context of an enormously different 
environment. The traumatic events that 
followed the collapse of the property market 
in 2008 have created a revolutionary housing 
paradigm. The environment, in which we must 
now operate, demands huge changes, not just 
in Clúid, but also in the housing association 
sector and, further, in the wider property 
market. The changes that have occurred 
are illustrated by the old world / new world 
contrast set out on the table on page 30.

The changes have caused us to reassess what 
Clúid stands for. The resulting review has 
been documented in our new Strategic Plan: 
Building a Successful Social Business, 2012-

2015, which is leading the way in responding 
to housing need. 

Clúid stands for:  
   Developing good quality housing which 

facilitates residents to participate fully in 
Irish society

   Providing property services which match  
and exceed services available in any  
other sector 

   Working to the highest standards of 
governance, in the belief that it enables us 
to be a stronger organisation 

   Building our organisational capacity to 
become a credible partner, one whom it is 
easy to do business with 

   Protecting the interests of our current and 
future residents 

    Promoting non-profit housing associations 
as the preferred way of developing social 
and affordable housing.

In preparation for achieving the scale and 
range of housing solutions needed by society, 
one of the key messages from Clúid’s current 
strategy is that of building its capacity. 

Clúid has built its capacity by developing new 
competencies and resourcing new activity in 
areas such as housing policy and profile. This 
is necessary, in order to engage with the public 
and engender the trust and influence needed 
to attract the types of funding required to 
deliver much needed housing.
 
We have also worked to enhance our financial 
and legal acumen so that we can successfully 
navigate the new funding environment of 
increased risk and limited access to funding. 
We are ensuring that we maintain and further 
invest in our stock, both to protect the public 
asset which has been entrusted to us, and  
also to enhance the living environment of  
Clúid residents. 

Chair's Address, Chief Executive's Address

in mid-2012, of a draft dedicated regulatory 
framework for the housing association sector. 
Governance is a key element of effective 
regulation. Clúid, in the meantime, has 
adopted The Governance Code: A Code of 
Practice for Good Governance of Community, 
Voluntary and Charitable Organisations in 
Ireland. We are intent on demonstrating, 
further developing and reinforcing our high 
governance standards. 

Clúid strongly believes that an organisation 
can only be truly compliant with the terms and 
intent of The Governance Code if it is willing to 
submit its compliance to external scrutiny and 
oversight. So, the Board requested an external 
auditor to review our adoption of the code in 
2012, and the results of this can be read in the 
auditor’s report on p.73. We, as Clúid’s Board 
of Directors, are committed to maintaining the 
highest standards of corporate governance and 
believe it to be vital to Clúid’s ability to  
realise its purpose.

Current challenges and needs compel Clúid 
to actively represent its values of innovation, 
collaboration and professionalism. We are 
commited more than ever to achieving our 
mission of providing quality housing and 
services, to enable people to create homes  
and thriving communities. 

David Burke,  
Chairperson, Clúid Housing Association 93% of Clúid  

employees feel  
proud of Clúid’s 
accomplishments.
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We aim to build the capacity of our residents 
to share the benefits of a successful social 
housing provider, supporting them to remain 
in their homes, and providing opportunities, 
be it involvement in their community, education 
or employment. 

This brings me on to the second key message 
in Clúid’s three year strategy - that of serving 
our customers.

Our success is built upon our services to current 
and future tenants. Our success rests upon 
providing professional services that meet the 
needs of our residents so that social housing 
is fully integrated in society and removing 
any vestiges of stigma so that ‘social housing’ 
becomes just ‘housing’.

The strategy is concerned to deepen our 
engagement with residents, to share and make 
common cause with them. Residents and social 
landlords have much in common in working 
to ensure sustainable communities on estates. 
We also intend to develop social enterprise 
initiatives during the course of the strategy. 

A third and final key message from Clúid’s 
three year strategy is ‘growing our business’ 
- developing more housing in new and 
innovative ways. This means creating mixed 
communities and providing services to an ever 
increasing diversity of households so as to 
better meet our mission. 

The advent of private finance has resulted in 
the need for greater scrutiny of development 
opportunities. Innovation will be key to 
future growth as new procurement routes are 
established and developed. Such innovations 
as Mortgage to Rent resonate with the strong 
culture of innovation within Clúid. This cultural 
orientation will help us to continue to grow in a 
constantly changing environment. 

Growth is also planned by expanding  
our property management services and  
managing stock of other social landlords.  
The development of the Contact Centre has 
placed us in a position to offer services to a 
wide range of customers. 

There are many routes to securing 
development. Clúid intends to continue 
to utilise them all individually, as well as in 
combination with other strategies, depending 
upon context. 

The underlying principle in Clúid’s three year 
strategy is that, in the environment in which 
we must now operate, we can only deliver 
our social objectives by building our capacity, 
serving our customers and growing our 
business. Whilst presented separately, these 
themes are inter-dependent. It is only through 
serving our customers and enabling them to 
share the benefits of the growth of our business 
that we will truly deliver our social mission.  
It is only through building capacity and 
influence that we will attract the types of 
funding that will be required to grow and 
sustain our business. Finally, it is only by 
growing our business that we can achieve the 
scale and range of solutions needed by society 
to both build our internal capacity and serve 
our current and future customers. 

Increasingly, we plan to develop independent 
strength as a social business, to invest, to lead 
by example and to influence. Underpinning the 
strategy is the insight that, in the environment 
in which we must now operate, we can only 
deliver our social objectives by becoming a 
successful social business. 

Brian O’Gorman,  
Chief Executive, Clúid Housing Association 

Chief Executive’s Address

 

Old World New World 

Grant Funding 100% government grants Loans from financial institutions

Governance and 
Regulation

Minimal compliance 
requirements

Moves towards fully regulated social 
housing sector

Relationship 
with Local 
Authorities 

Dependent: Housing 
associations worked with and 
through local authorities.

Housing associations to deliver new 
homes and provide management services 
to local authorities 

Tenure Mix Mono-tenure social housing 
with no right to buy 

Mixed tenure schemes and introduction 
of the right to buy for tenants of housing 
associations, with the promotion of  
mixed tenure

Performance 
Culture 

Voluntary benchmarking but no 
independent audit or sanctions 
for poor performance 

Contract culture: verifiable performance 
standards. Competition with private sector 
and other social landlords

Risk Low risk for development: few 
unrecoverable costs

New funding mechanisms transfer risk to 
housing associations.

Market 
Exposure

Housing associations largely 
insulated from the market 
Market valuations and market 
rents not relevant

Development decisions increasingly relate 
to market rents, valuations and property 
management costs. 

Public Profile Housing associations with low 
public profile not widely known 
or understood by society

Housing associations need to develop 
profile to attract support, recognition, 
funding and trust.

Customer 
Service

Low expectations from captive 
customers with little choice 

High quality customer care as a condition 
for winning and retaining business

Relationship  
with Residents

Paternalism and dependence  
(e.g. lack of security of tenure)

Secure tenancies under Residential 
Tenancies Act 
Opportunities to share success with 
residents through support for social 
enterprise and empowerment

Clúid’s Identity Charity 

Housing provider

General Needs Housing

Social Business

Property manager

Wider business focus 
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Housing Delivery
Delivering homes to those most in need

Because of the dramatic cutback in public 
funding, the provision of housing into the 
future requires radical innovations. Creative 
initiatives implemented by Clúid recently have 
included: a new funding model; a Mortgage 
to Rent scheme; the private sector leasing 
scheme; and the leasing of local authority 
owned, unsold, affordable housing. Clúid 
continues its regeneration efforts, as a cost-
effective way of providing a high standard of 
housing and rejuvenating local communities. 
In 2012, Clúid also expanded its property 
management services to third parties, 

providing high quality services which benefit 
another 192 households in Ireland. 

“ The government sees voluntary and 
cooperative housing associations as being 
at the heart of social housing provision in 
the years ahead and this will call for creative 
and imaginative measures in terms of both 
financing solutions and housing measures”. 

Minister Jan O’Sullivan speaking at the launch  
of Clúid’s report into funding the delivery of 
housing in 2012 

 

4.   The term ‘debt finance’ used in this report refers to sources of funding from financial institutions which are used to fund 
social housing developments. The funding is repaid with interest on the debt.

Clúid works at the forefront 

of the sector, focusing on 

solutions and innovating in a 

constantly changing Ireland.

 

58 First use of debt finance4

2 Mortgage to Rent 

37 Leasing: Private Sector

144 
Leasing: Local Authority 
Unsold Affordable Housing 

42 Regeneration

21 Other 

Clúid delivered a further 
304 properties to tenants  
in 2012 and is committed  
to combating housing  
need in the future.

304  
properties
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properties delivered to those in housing need 
through this funding scheme. The slow pace 
of this transition has been frustrating but it has 
involved significant change, complexities and 
new learning by all stakeholders involved within 
a relatively short period of time. Clúid believes 
that, given commitment from all involved, the 
pace will increase significantly and housing 
provision through debt finance will increase 
markedly in 2013 and beyond.

First Use of The New Funding  
Model in 2012 
The first use of the new funding model in 2012 
led to the purchasing of 58 properties by Clúid 
in the Beacon South Quarter scheme in Dublin. 
This scheme is an example of an innovative use 
of debt finance and mixed tenure communities. 

Current government policy promotes the 
development of mixed communities. Clúid 
supports this since there is considerable 
evidence that mixed communities can 
avoid the negative impacts on life chances 
that are sometimes features of low income 
neighbourhoods. Clúid is examining ways in 
which the benefits of mixed communities can 
be brought to bear on its existing and future  
housing developments. 

 
 

Thirty four of the Beacon South Quarter 
apartments were purchased and allocated 
to social housing, while the remainder were 
purchased to let at market rent. 

The 34 units purchased by Clúid for social 
housing were 70% funded by a loan from 
a private funding institution, over a term of 
30 years. The remaining 30% were funded 
through a Government loan, CALF. Clúid will 
repay these loans, using a combination of the 
availability payment and rent received from 
tenants, which is an affordable rent.

A new funding model for  
housing provision
Funding for housing associations has changed 
radically in the last couple of years. Until 2010 
general needs housing was funded by the 
Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS),  
which comprised a 100% non-repayable 
- usually 30 year - loan that funded the 
construction or purchase of houses. Because 
the loan was non-repayable, it did not carry an 
obligation to service the loan or to repay the 
capital over the term. 
 
The CLSS was replaced by a new funding 
scheme called the Social Housing Leasing 
Initiative (SHLI) which, despite its name,  
includes purchase as well as leasing.  

Purchasing property under SHLI incorporates 
two elements:
    A government loan called the Capital 

Advance Leasing Facility (CALF) that  
covers a maximum of 30% of the total 
funding required

    A loan from a financial institution that  
covers the balance of the funding required.

Clúid may also use its own funds in some 
circumstances.

CALF
CALF (a confusing title which is not connected 
to leasing) is a government loan that covers a 
maximum of 30% of the total funding required. 
The introduction of CALF is to allow housing 
associations to leverage the debt finance 
required to fund developments, by allowing 
funders an improved debt-to-value ratio. This 
makes the loan or investment to the housing 
association more attractive. The CALF loan is 
repayable at the end of the term of the Payment 
and Availability Agreement, usually 30 years, 
with interest rolled up for the duration of the 
loan at 2%.

The amount of CALF that the Department 
of the Environment, Community and Local 
government (DoECLG) will allocate to a 
development is assessed on a project by  
project basis. It is based on a financial 
assessment which aims to ensure that the 
scheme is financially viable for the Housing 
Association and an appropriate project for the 
utilisation of government funding. 

The repayment of this facility allows the long 
term recycling of funding and so the continued 
development of social housing.

Debt servicing
The servicing of the debt finance is facilitated 
by a combination of the rental payments from 
the tenants and an availability payment from 
the local authority. This availability payment is 
backed by an agreement with the local authority 
to allow the local authority sole nominating 
rights to the properties for the duration of the 
agreement (hence ‘availability’ agreement). 

The amount of the availability payment is based 
on the market rent for the property concerned. 
It is assessed on a property by property basis.

The housing association is responsible for, 
and takes on takes on the risk of ensuring 
the combination of debt finance, CALF, and 
the availability agreement adequately covers 
the funding of the property. The housing 
association is also responsible for managing and 
maintaining the property and its environs.

The recent changes to the funding system, 
involving a move away from capital funding 
(the old CLSS scheme) to revenue funding 
(availability payment), has taken place in many 
other European countries over a number of 
years. However, in Ireland it happened almost 
overnight. The output of this move in funding 
has been relatively low in 2012, with 58 

Housing Delivery

34 units for social housing Repayment of loan to financial institution

Availability  
payment from 
Government

€

€€

Loan from private  
funding institution

Loan from Government

Rent
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5.  This research is the first project funded by the Adrian Norridge Housing Research Bursary, which was established in honour of the 
founder of Clúid, Adrian Norridge. The bursary, which is awarded annually, supports applied research on housing issues that will be 
of relevance to the housing association sector in Ireland.

Clúid has been involved in the design and 
piloting of the scheme and continues to be 
strongly committed to Mortgage to Rent. For 
those who are eligible, the scheme offers an 
opportunity for them to continue living in their 
home, maintaining community and family 
connections as well as links to schools and 
work; and to be free from an unsustainable 
debt. For participants, the benefits of staying 
in their own home without the threat of 
repossession hanging over them, paying 
an affordable rent to a housing association 
instead of an unaffordable mortgage, greatly 
outweigh the disadvantage of giving up 
owner occupation. For many of them, owner 
occupation has become a financial millstone 
and a source of great anxiety, rather than a 
means of achieving independence and wealth.

Financing housing delivery in 2012 
Clúid prevented two families from  
losing their home by purchasing their 
properties under the Mortgage to Rent 
scheme in 2012.

Research 
In April 2012, the Minister for Housing and 
Planning, Ms. Jan O’Sullivan, T.D. launched a 
research report5 commissioned by Clúid and 
carried out by Conor Farrell, highlighting key 
measures needed to fund successfully the 
provision of housing through debt finance. 
The report, entitled Financing the Irish Social 

Rented Housing Sector: Lessons from England 

and Canada (available on www.Clúid.ie) looks 
in detail at two countries that use debt finance 
to deliver housing. The research identified 
some of the key measures that would help to 
make debt finance work in Ireland and Clúid 

has been using the findings to promote and 
advance key policy areas, such as regulation.

Financing housing delivery in 2012 
Effective regulation is the single  
most important element in creating  
an environment in which private  
funders can lend to housing  
associations with confidence. 

 
Leasing 
There is a significant amount of new, 
unoccupied housing around the country 
which is a consequence of the previously 
buoyant property market. This has provided an 
opportunity for Clúid to get involved in long 
term leasing, in turn providing housing to its 
own tenants. In 2012, 181 further properties 
were made available to Clúid’s tenants through 
two leasing initiatives – the leasing of local 
authority owned, unsold, affordable housing 
and private sector leasing. Leasing has played 
an increasingly important role in meeting 
housing need in 2012 and will continue to  
do so in the future.

Leasing of Local Authority Owned 
Unsold Affordable Housing
In 2012, local authorities across the country 
leased 144 of their unsold, affordable housing 
units to Clúid for a period of five years. 
Unsold, affordable housing is the term used 
for properties, originally built for sale by local 
authorities as affordable homes to people who 
could not afford to buy on the open market. 
Due to the downturn, some of these properties 
could no longer be sold and have been made 
available to housing associations for a period  
of up to five years.

The other 24 units for letting at market rent 
were purchased using Clúid's own funds (12%), 
with the remaining 88% approved by a private 
finance institution over a term of eight years. 
This loan will be repaid using rent received 
from the private tenants, which is calculated at 
the market rent, and a phased selling of units.

Financing housing delivery in 2012 
58 properties purchased using  
debt finance

Housing Delivery

Mortgage to Rent
The Mortgage to Rent scheme, which was 
initiated by Clúid, aims to help some people 
who have serious difficulties with their 
mortgage and who are unlikely ever to make 
full repayments on their mortgage in the  
future. Under the scheme, the home is bought 
by a housing association such as Clúid and  
the family stays in their home as a tenant, 
paying an affordable rent to the housing 
association, rather than as an owner occupier 
with a mortgage.

The scheme, which was rolled out nationally in 
June, has had a very slow start. In 2012, Clúid 
processed 22 cases and at the end of the year, 
two households who were facing repossession 

were able to remain in their homes after 
Clúid purchased the property and the families 
became tenants. However, it is anticipated that 
there will be a very significant increase in the 
number of cases processed in 2013. A target of 
250 households has been set for 2013 to reach 
those who need the scheme most. 

Under the scheme, Clúid purchases the 
properties at the current market value.  
The purchase is funded using a loan from a 
private funding institution and CALF. The loan 
repayments are met by rent from tenants and 
the availability payment. Clúid prevented two 
families from losing their home by purchasing 
their properties under the Mortgage to Rent 
scheme in 2012. 

Repayment of loan to financial institution

A phased  
selling of units

€

€€

Loan from private  
funding institution

Clúid's own funds

Rent

88%

12%

24 units for market rented
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Financing housing delivery in 2012 
Clúid finances the lease to private  
property owners and the on-going 
management and maintenance costs  
by means of both the availability  
payment and the affordable rent  
paid by tenants. 

Table 3 

Carlow  1
Cork   98
Dublin  23
Louth  45
Offaly   8
Waterford  6

181 further properties  
delivered to tenants  
through leasing  
initiatives in 2012 

37 private  
sector housing  
units delivered  
to tenants in 2012

Clúid does not pay a fee for leasing the unsold, 
affordable housing from the local authority. 
The availability payment comes into play and, 
as stated earlier, the key condition of this 
payment is that it pays for a nomination right 
to a property. Therefore, the properties leased 
by Clúid are rented to people from the local 
authority housing waiting list at an affordable 
rent. The local authority nominates eligible 
tenants to Clúid. Clúid uses the rent received 
from tenants to finance the upkeep of the 
property and its environs. 

Clúid continues to work with local authorities 
around the country to identify suitable, unsold 
affordable housing and, where appropriate 
and where the tenant wishes to remain in their 
home, to roll over the lease period for another 
five year period.

Financing housing delivery in 2012 
The availability payment comes into 
play for leasing of local authority 
unsold affordable housing and, as 
stated earlier, the key condition of this 
payment is that it pays for a nomination 
right to a property. The properties 
leased by Clúid are rented to people 
from the local authority housing waiting 
list. Clúid uses the rent received from 
tenants to finance the upkeep of the 
property and its environs. 

Private Sector Leasing
Clúid actively engaged in Private Sector 
Leasing (PSL) in 2012 and 37 units were  
taken into management under the scheme.
 
PSL was introduced by the DoECLG in 2009. 
The idea of the scheme is to lease out some 
of the vacant private properties, constructed 
originally for sale in the previously buoyant 
property market. With restrictions on the 
state budget, PSL is an extremely important 
opportunity to address the increasing levels of 
housing need in Ireland and can be the major 
delivery mechanism for housing associations for 
the foreseeable future. 

PSL involves Clúid entering into a long-
term lease agreement (typically 15 years)
with a private property owner, paying them 
guaranteed rents, regardless of occupancy. 
Clúid also takes over the majority of the day-to-
day maintenance and repairing obligations on 
the property. 

Clúid finances the lease (which is priced at 
80% of the market rent) and the on-going 
management and maintenance costs by  
means of the availability payment and with  
the affordable rent paid by tenants. Clúid  
rents these properties to people from the  
local authority housing waiting list at an 
affordable rate.

144 local authority  
owned, unsold 
affordable housing 
units delivered  
to tenants in 2012

Housing Delivery
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It’s a new life we have, thanks to 
Clúid. And it’s great for the next 
generation in years to come when 
they have the houses for their kids 
growing up in the area.

St. Patrick’s Estate, Ballina, Co. Mayo
The last phase of regeneration efforts were completed in St. Patrick’s 
Estate, Co. Mayo in 2012. The final five properties were refurbished. 
The new-look estate, which was originally constructed in the 1970s 
and 1980s, has been greeted enthusiastically by tenants, who had 
been campaigning for a number of years for the regeneration of  
their estate.

“ It is disgusting living like this. The vermin are in all the kitchens, or 
at least most of them,” she said. “I had to replace my refrigerator 
recently after the door was left open for a minute and two rats ran 
into it. This is how we are living and no one is doing anything about 
it. It can’t go on.”

Shareen Morell,  
Resident of St Patrick’s Estate quoted in the Western People,  
October 2008.

“ It’s completely different. We’re living in luxury now - the heating, the 
space, everything. Clúid should have come in years ago. You’re not 
afraid of getting up in the morning to mice and rats. You can walk 
out your door and you don’t have to worry about the kids playing 
outside. There’s no rubbish, no dumping. Our kids are not ashamed 
where they live now. It’s a new life we have thanks to Clúid. And it’s 
great for the next generation in years to come when they have the 
houses for their kids growing up in the area.”

 
Shareen Morell,  
Resident of St Patrick’s Estate quoted for Clúid’s 2012  
Annual Report, December 2012

Regeneration
Clúid’s experience of regeneration has been 
very successful to date. Its portfolio includes 
Killarney Court in Dublin (originally St. Joseph’s 
Mansions), St. Michael’s Road in Longford and 
St. Patrick’s Estate in Mayo. Clúid believes 
regeneration is an economic and sustainable 
way forward for housing delivery in Ireland 
and is keen to source innovative methods of 
financing further regeneration projects  
around the country. 

There are a number of estates and 
properties around the country which have 
deteriorated significantly over the course 
of their life, leaving not only physical decay 
but also negative social consequences for 
communities. Clúid has the expertise and 
capacity to take these existing properties 
and repair and refurbish them and their 
surroundings to full social and physical 
regeneration within budget and within 
a short timescale. One of the benefits of a 
private model of finance is that the funding 
of such projects will no longer need to be a 
lengthy process. Clúid is keen to work with 
local government to identify much needed 
regeneration projects around Ireland, including 
ghost estates and other estates which have 
fallen into disrepair over their life, with the  
aim of transforming them into homes and  
living communities.

Research 
Following on from the first successful piece 
of research conducted with the annual Adrian 
Norridge Research Bursary, the second 
study was awarded in Autumn 2012 to Dr. 
Declan Redmond and Dr. Rory Hearne who 
are undertaking a study into regeneration by 
Housing Associations. This will be completed  
in mid-2013.

Financing housing delivery in 2012 
The last of the traditional funding 
streams ceased with the completion 
of Clúid’s regeneration projects in 
Longford and Mayo. Going forward, 
Clúid is keen to continue building 
its successful regeneration portfolio 
around the country and has the 
capacity to access funds through 
private finance institutions. 

42 units were 
delivered through 
regeneration in 2012

Housing Delivery
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Property Management on  
Behalf of Third Party Owners
In 2012, Clúid’s growing reputation for 
delivering professional housing and estate 
management and tenant services enabled 
Clúid to take into management a further 192 
units on behalf of third party owners, such as 
local authorities, other housing associations 
and private developers. Clúid is one of only 
two housing associations to have been licensed 
by the Property Services Regulatory Authority,  
a regulatory body of property services 
providers. Clúid now manages 1,270 
dwellings and estates on behalf of others 
around the country. This service includes 
ensuring that dwellings are well maintained, 

collecting rent and ensuring that the 
environment within its housing estates is 
maintained to the highest standard. 

Conclusion
Clúid will continue to partner with government, 
private funders and other stakeholders to 
develop creative ways of providing the 
maximum number of homes to people in 
housing need. This work aims to identify how 
Ireland can develop a successful debt finance 
model, so that commercial lenders will lend 
to housing associations with confidence and 
increased quantities of quality, affordable 
housing will be delivered.

Table 4 
 

Carlow  1
Cork   109
Dublin   23
Louth  45
Offaly   8
Waterford  6

Today 37 households live on  
St. Michael’s Road - a beautifully 
designed, modern, yet traditional 
estate and a community that has 
been brought back to life.

St. Michael’s Road Housing Estate, Longford
In 2012 Clúid completed the regeneration of a 37 unit  
housing estate in Longford. St. Michael’s Road is one of 
Longford Town’s oldest and most historic streets. Most of the 
housing is approximately 120 years old and, at the time of the 
transfer to Clúid by Longford Town Council, the street was in 
quite poor condition with most of the units boarded up. In 
partnership with the residents of the area, Clúid transformed 
the estate into a comfortable, secure, pleasant environment. 
Some of the work that was completed included:

•  Amalgamating some of the properties into larger  
two bed homes

•  Demolishing some of the units and replacing them with 
bright, spacious bungalows and two-storey apartment blocks

•  Realigning the street to discourage its use by heavy traffic 
and to encourage pedestrian movement.

Clúid was very careful to retain the character of the  
street throughout the process. Today 37 households live 
 on St. Michael’s Road - a beautifully designed, modern,  
yet traditional estate and a community that has been  
brought back to life.

Housing Delivery

192 further properties 
managed on behalf  
of others in 2012 
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Photos of  
people that  
are important  
to Sylvia.

Elvis the budgie and his 
mirror to keep him company. 
Sylvia likes to spoil him by 
leaving the light on at night.

Priscilla, the 
deceased budgie. 
(Sylvia thinks  
Elvis did it) 
 

Sylvia Forde

Resident of Clúid’s housing scheme, 
Racecourse View, Sligo. 

The partition wall the 
"fellas" put up between the 
kitchen and the living room. 
Sylvia painted it herself. 

Photos of  
family of resource  
house manager.

Sylvia's bowling  
medal won in St Annes 
Community Centre.

Money boxes.  
Sylvia puts her  
coins in here. 
 

Sylvia's tribute  
to Elvis Presley. 
 

Sylvia Forde’s home
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Sylvia is typical of Clúid’s 
tenants who like to participate 
and get involved. By listening 
to residents and making them 
a part of the work, Clúid 
ensured that improvements 
on the estate were really 
beneficial to residents and 
enabled them to strengthen 
their own community.

Read more about Quality Housing and Clúid on page 53.

Sylvia Forde, age 78, lives in a one-bed 
bungalow in Clúid’s 51-unit housing 
scheme, Racecourse View in Cranmore, 
Sligo Town. Sylvia moved to Racecourse  
View after her husband passed away a 
couple of years ago. 

“I live on my own with my budgie Elvis. 
Paula, the Manager in the community 
centre over the road got him for me. 

“I like to keep myself active and don’t 
let myself get down. I go to St. Anne’s, 
the community centre in Cranmore twice 
a week and we play bowling. And I go 
to the coffee morning on a Monday in 
Abbeyquarter in Cranmore”.

Despite battling cancer recently, 
Sylvia makes a significant effort to get 
involved and play her part in a number 
of community activities. A previous 
refurbishment project in Racecourse View 
included a purpose-built centre for the 
‘Spring Board Project’ at which Sylvia put 
herself forward as a volunteer. 

“ I like to contribute and living here 
allows me to do that. The centre is 
literally across the road from me. I’m able 
to do voluntary work there on Monday 
to Thursday with the children in the 
homework club. I feed the kids when they 
come to do their homework”.

In August 2012, as part of repairs and 
maintenance work, Clúid put a team of 
staff members together to find out what 
residents in Racecourse View thought of 

their home and community. Although she 
is happy and settled where she lives, Sylvia 
had an idea on how to improve her home. 

“I had a combined kitchen-sitting room. 
The one big room was too difficult to keep 
warm. So I thought a partition would solve 
that problem.

“I asked the fellas when they came around 
to put up a partition to split up my living 
room and my kitchen.

“Clúid got straight to work. It took a day 
and a half and they did a really good job 
of it. I am so pleased with it.

“Getting this work done has meant a lot to 
me. I have friends on the estate that come 
up to see me for a chat and I go see them. 
My sister will be coming over to visit from 
the UK and I’ll have the separate room for 
her. My home is a much cosier place now 
for me and my visitors.” 

Ten year old Racecourse View is one of 
Clúid’s older estates. The aim of the repairs 
and maintenance project was to help 
identify if and where there was room for 
improvement in the area and in people’s 
homes. Sylvia is typical of Clúid’s tenants 
who like to participate and get involved. 
By listening to residents and making them 
a part of the work, Clúid ensured that 
improvements on the estate were really 
beneficial to residents and enabled them 
to strengthen their own community.

In conversation with Lucinda McNally, Clúid Housing Association

Sylvia Forde’s home48
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Housing Policy
Developing and promoting  

innovative policy initiatives

Government housing policy is continuously 
evolving and, in recent years, the pace of 
change has increased, particularly since the 
publication of the government’s Housing Policy 

Statement 2011 which marked a number of 
significant new directions for Irish housing 
policy. In 2012, in an acknowledgement of 
the direct impact of housing policy on Clúid’s 
tenants, Clúid created two new posts covering 
policy and communications. 

Clúid has developed key policy initiatives and 
policy positions, and used communications 
as an influential tool to help maintain and 
highlight the issue of housing on the  
political agenda.

Key policy priorities for Clúid and its  
tenants in 2012 included:

Local Property Tax 
When details of the Local Property Tax were 
announced in December 2012, it was revealed 
that housing associations and local authorities 
would be liable for the new tax. Clúid agrees 
that all owners of property should be liable 
for the local property tax but that the financial 
burden placed on housing associations, which 
are not-for-profit organisations that do not 
benefit from ownership of property in the same 
way that individuals do, should be fair. 

Clúid has been lobbying for changes to the 
property tax that would ensure that housing 
associations pay a fair tax. At the end of 2012, 
it was unclear whether housing associations 
would be liable for the full tax, or whether 
a reduced rate would apply, reflecting the 

difference between a private individual and a 
provider of social housing. Clúid will continue 
to advocate on this issue.

Mortgage to Rent 
Clúid is determined to play its part in ensuring 
that as many people as possible benefit from 
the Mortgage to Rent scheme. During 2012, 
in an effort to reach those most in need of the 
scheme, Clúid instigated a national discussion 
through local and national broadcast and print 
media, including RTE’s Six One news, RTE’s 
Drivetime, Newstalk, the Irish Independent and 
Irish Examiner. Clúid’s Contact Centre provided 
on-going advice and information to those 
calling in with an interest in the scheme. Clúid 
also developed an information leaflet to keep 
members of the public and members of the 
Oireachtas informed about how the scheme 
can work to prevent those in distress from 
losing their home.

Clúid has been endeavouring to improve 
the scheme’s performance to enable greater 
numbers of households to participate and  
has been working closely with the Housing 
Agency, the DoECLG, and mortgage lenders  
to achieve this.

Clúid completed an initial review of the 
Mortgage to Rent scheme in June, and will 
carry out a more detailed review in early 2013. 

Clúid values partnerships in  

achieving the best outcomes.  

Clúid is open, co-operative  

and easy to do business with.
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NAMA (National Asset  
Management Agency)  
As part of the ‘social dividend’, the government 
announced that NAMA would make housing 
units available to people on social housing lists 
in 2012. In an effort to accelerate the process, 
NAMA established a special purpose vehicle 
called NARPS (Nama Asset Residential Property 
Services Ltd.) to acquire properties and then 
lease them to a local authority or housing 
association. Clúid has been working closely 
with NARPS and other agencies, with the aim 
of developing a practicable process that will 
lead to the leasing of a significant number of 
units from NARPS in 2013.

Conclusion
Policy and communications efforts aim to 
highlight, on political forums and through the 
media, the issues that are important to Clúid’s 
current and future tenants. Clúid aims to inform 
public debate, focusing on realistic solutions to 
housing delivery in Ireland today.

 

95% of Clúid 
employees believe 
that residents can 
trust Clúid.

Regulation of Housing Associations 
One of the main recommendations from the 
research commissioned by Clúid on debt 
finance in 2012 is the need for an independent 
regulator for the housing association sector. 
Currently, Ireland adopts a voluntary code 
of regulation which does not encourage 
lenders into the market. The research found 
that effective regulation is the single most 
important element in creating an environment 
in which private funders can lend to housing 
associations with confidence.
 
Regulation is also important to ensure that 
tenants’ rights are protected, to ensure that 
they receive a minimum standard of services 
and to ensure that housing associations 
appropriately implement national housing 
policy objectives.

Clúid is very supportive of effective, 
independent regulation of the Housing 
Association sector. Pressing for the 
implementation of an appropriate  
regulatory regime is a major priority. 

In April 2012, Clúid invited Minister O’Sullivan 
to launch its research into debt finance. Clúid 
took the opportunity to promote regulation as 
a critical aspect to inspiring confidence among 
private lenders in the Housing Association 
sector. To strengthen the call, Clúid ran a public 
campaign which received significant coverage 
in both national and local media, including 
the Irish Times, the Irish Examiner, as well as a 
number of sector publications.

In Summer 2012, the DoECLG issued a  
draft voluntary regulatory framework for 
housing associations for consultation.  
Clúid made detailed proposals that aimed  
to strengthen the draft code. At the end of  
the year, the voluntary code had still not  
been finalised, but it is hoped that it will 
appear in 2013.

Residential Tenancies Amendment Bill 2013 
The Private Residential Tenancies Board 
was set up in 2004 to establish a national 
register of private rented tenancies, and to 
provide a disputes resolution service that 
replaces the courts in many landlord and 
tenant disputes. The Residential Tenancies 
Amendment Bill 2013 extends this to include 
housing association tenants, in line with the 
government’s policy of ‘equity across tenures’ 
that aims to ensure that all tenants – private 
tenants and social housing tenants – have 
similar rights and responsibilities. The word 
‘Private’ will be dropped from the board’s 
name. One of the key effects of this legislation 
will be that Clúid tenants will have access 
to the Residential Tenancies Board’s dispute 
resolution service. Clúid strongly supports 
the principle of broadening the scope of the 
Residential Tenancies Board, and has pushed 
for changes that will make sure that all housing 
association tenants will have this protection. 
Clúid also supports the intention to bring 
local authority tenants under the Residential 
Tenancies Board’s remit at some time in  
the future. 

Housing Policy
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Quality Housing 
Ensuring the highest quality housing  

and customer service for residents

As well as delivering homes to people in 
housing need, Clúid aims to ensure that its 
properties and environs are maintained to the 
highest standard, so that tenants receive quality 
homes and services. 

Given the vast and growing housing need in 
Ireland, in 2012, Clúid focused its efforts on 
preparing itself for managing a significant 
increase in housing stock in the future.  
Clúid invested in building its capacity, which 
included the introduction of a centralised 
Contact Centre and an upgrade of 
management information systems. 

Managing and maintaining  
properties over a long life
Clúid proactivity manages and maintains all 
its properties and environs on an on-going 
basis to ensure that they maintain a high  
quality for tenants. 

This is particularly important for older 
properties whose long-term maintenance 
requirements increase over time. Clúid has a 
financial reserve in place to ensure that it is 
adequately funded to meet future  
maintenance obligations. 

An on-going maintenance programme is Clúid’s 
opportunity to address works in a strategic 
manner. While Clúid also has a responsive 
repairs service, this proactive approach 
significantly reduces the cost of responding to 
housing and estate issues on an ad-hoc basis.
 

Examples of works carried out within Clúid’s 
on-going maintenance programmes include: 
window replacement, central heating 
installations and upgrades, new kitchens 
or bathrooms, boiler servicing and lift 
maintenance. Planned programmes may also 
include works to improve energy efficiency and 
contribute to environmental sustainability. 

Housing management  
and tenant services
Clúid provides housing management and 
tenant services which include: ensuring that 
dwellings are well maintained; collecting rent; 
monitoring of repairs; and ensuring that the 
environment within housing estates is safe, 
secure and maintained to the highest standard. 
All estates have a dedicated Housing Officer  
or Scheme Manager responsible for the smooth 
running of housing schemes and providing  
a quality housing management service  
to all tenants. 

Responding to tenants’ repair needs
Clúid is heavily involved in managing routine 
repairs in tenants’ homes across the country 
on a daily basis. Clúid is committed to the 
continued delivery of a first class repairs  
service to its tenants, characterised by a 
positive customer experience, minimal 
disruption and first time solutions. 

Clúid’s Contact Centre and its innovative 
repairs service play a significant role in  
ensuring that this service is excellent. 

Clúid drives up standards,  

through a commitment to  

high-quality services,  

continuous improvement  

and investment in its people.
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Clúid believes that tenants' involvement in this 
process is what brings its repairs service to such 
a high standard. 

Improving Internal Processes for Customers
In 2012, Clúid worked intensively with expert 
consultant, Vanguard Ireland to review and 
improve its internal processes relating to rent 
services and the time it takes to refill properties 
after a previous tenant moves.

Focusing predominantly on tenants’ needs, the 
aim of the review was to identify where Clúid’s 
internal processes could be improved, for the 
benefit of customers. 

Under the review, Clúid determined a new 
customer perspective – ‘get me a home, in 
good condition, in the area that I want’ - and 
developed a new process with this priority in 
mind. As a result, Clúid found a considerable 
amount of waste in the old process, (for 
example, too many forms to be filled out by 
tenants and staff) and began testing new ways 
of working which would combat this waste and 
make the process easier and more efficient for 
all involved. 

Clúid is committed to achieving change for 
the benefit of its tenants and looks forward to 
implementing improved processes in 2013.

Engaging with Residents 
Clúid is committed to engaging with 
residents and opening up dialogue about 
issues that affect them directly, whether they 
are local issues or broader concerns about 
Clúid’s policies and services. In 2012, Clúid 
devoted energy to a complete redesign of 
its tenant handbook and the development 
of a new-style tenant newsletter. In 2012, 
Clúid also commenced the development of 
a resident engagement strategy to gain a 
better understanding of how Clúid can build 
stronger relationships with residents. 

Conclusion 
Clúid is committed to ensuring that tenants’ 
homes and communities maintain a very high 
quality. Clúid believes that tenants have a 
central role to play in driving up standards of 
customer service.

Clúid’s tenants play  
a very important role 
in the assessment  
of the contractor’s 
performance.

The Contact Centre 
Clúid’s Contact Centre enables Clúid to provide 
a consistently high standard of customer 
service to residents all over the country. The 
centre, which has brought customer services 
into one single point of contact, began taking 
calls from all tenants and other customers 
in the middle of January 2012. It is run by a 
team of experienced customer services staff 
who provide a ‘one-stop-shop’ for tenants’ 
queries on housing, maintenance, repairs, rent 
management and advice. In 2012, the Contact 
Centre handled an average of 4,600 calls every 
month, 97% of which were answered within  
10 seconds. 

Hi there,
I just wanted to say thanks for sorting out 
my faulty cooker switch. Phill in the Contact 
Centre dealt with my query in a friendly and 
professional manner. Next thing I know I get a 
call from the contractor to let me know he is on 
his way. From the first phone call to your office 
to the contractor coming out and fixing the 
problem didn’t even take 4 hours.

Great stuff Clúid!
Mark and Julie Eribo,  
Belmayne 

Innovative Repairs Service 
Clúid’s repairs service is run through ‘Open 
Book’ contracts, which is an innovative 
partnership approach between Clúid, tenants 
and contractors. Clúid has developed a strong 
working relationship with three contractors 
who understand and value Clúid’s mission in 
providing high quality homes and services. 
Contractors are rewarded for excellent levels 
of performance with a performance related 
profit. Clúid’s tenants play a very important 
role in the assessment of the contractor’s 
performance and the Contact Centre gathers 
this information to develop Customer  
Satisfaction Key Performance Indicators.

2012 marked the first year piloting ‘Open 
Book’. At the end of 2012, 98% of tenants 
answered satisfied, very satisfied or delighted 
to these questions about the contractors: 
    How satisfied are you with the way  

the contractor protected your property  
and worked safely whilst completing  
the repair?

    How satisfied are you with the way 
the contractor tidied up after they had 
completed the repair works?

    How satisfied are you with the way the 
contractor communicated with you?

    Was the contractor polite and helpful and 
did he keep you informed on how the works 
were progressing?

    How satisfied are you with the quality of the 
repair carried out?

    How satisfied are you with the overall repair 
service provided by the contractor?

Quality Housing
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After 18 years’ experience, Clúid has found that 
bricks and mortar don’t make 'a great place 
to live' - tenants and communities do. In an 
age of online communities, as people become 
more and more detached from traditional 
communities, some of the social bonds that 
were there in the past are disappearing. This 
can lead to an increase in loneliness, isolation 
and depression, especially among older 
people. Clúid places particular emphasis on 
bringing neighbours together; encouraging 
and promoting involvement and advancing  
health and well-being. 

Clúid invests in communities and, more 
importantly, in enabling tenants to create and 
develop communities. There are a number 
of annual national and European community 
events which Clúid encourages tenants to 
get involved in. Clúid also organises its own 
community events, bringing residents together 
to enjoy and strengthen their neighbourhood. 
Some initiatives create opportunities for 
residents in education, employment and 
through participation in productive and 
valuable community projects. With the support 
of Clúid, residents also run various projects 
which impact positively on their community. 

Some of the community projects  
held in 2012 included: 

Celebrating Great Places to Live 
Clúid established the Great Places to Live 
competition in 2012 to encourage and promote 
residents' participation within communities,  
for residents' enjoyment and benefit.

Over the Summer, residents from communities 
all around Leinster participated in the 
competition. An award ceremony was held 
in September to mark residents’ continual 
effort and enthusiasm to improve their 
neighbourhoods. 

Clúid believes it is important to celebrate the 
achievements of residents who really make 
the effort, and to promote this effort to inspire 
other tenants around the country to get more 
involved in their local community. 

In 2013, Clúid hopes to roll out the competition 
to communities all over Ireland so that all 
tenants will have a chance to make their 
community stand out from the rest as a  
Great Place to Live. 

A Stepping Stone to Education 
Clúid’s ‘Stepping Stones’ award was launched 
as a pilot project in the southern part of the 
country in 2012. As Clúid’s tenant base is 
largely made up of people on low incomes, 
the aim of this bursary was to break down the 
financial barrier to education, providing tenants 
with an opportunity to fulfil their ambition.

‘Stepping Stones’ is the first of its kind within 
Clúid and is aimed at promoting learning 
and self-development opportunities for 
tenants. The winners of the bursary went on 
to complete a number of college courses, 
including Contemporary Living at University 
College Cork and Addiction Studies in Cork.

Thriving Communities 
Enabling residents to create thriving communities

Clúid’s work is underpinned  

by a mutual respect and  

trust between customers,  

staff and managers. 
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Clúid’s sheltered housing scheme in Clifden 
visited a local school. The older residents 
spent the day teaching schoolchildren some 
traditional skills, while the children put on a 
concert for their visitors. 

Men’s Sheds 
Following the success of Clúid’s first Men’s 
Shed, Clúid worked with the local community 
in Newmarket, Co. Cork, in April to set up 
another. The Men’s Shed provides men in 
the community with an inclusive, friendly 
environment in which to work shoulder to 
shoulder with other men on hands-on projects. 
Men’s Sheds aim to advance health and 
well-being in an Ireland that provides little 
encouragement for men to talk about their 
emotions or ask for help. The activities and 
outputs blissfully lurch from one half-baked 
idea to another, and it is this informality which 
helps to create a welcoming environment. It is 
the men themselves who decide what projects 
to work on and most outcomes benefit the 
local community. One community project the 
men engaged in during 2012 was the creation 
of door stops for the local community centre, 
using substantial amounts of Bog Oak and 
teak. They also worked together on producing 
bird boxes and a bench for the local park, for 
the benefit of children and families in the area. 
Clúid continues to proactively promote Men’s 
Sheds in the local media, in an effort to 
encourage men to participate in an informal 
environment where they will feel welcomed 
and comfortable.

Conclusion 
The strength of community can be found in 
Clúid’s housing schemes all over the country. 
Clúid believes that community involvement 
projects, like those held in 2012, are  
significant in creating inclusive, thriving 
communities and a society where 
everyone has a great place to live.

Financing Community Development 
In 2012, Clúid allocated almost 
€150,000 to its community and estate 
development programmes. The aim is  
to finance projects that encourage  
resident involvement, address local  
issues and enable residents to create 
thriving communities. This can be  
through environmental projects, social 
events, community arts and other  
activities, clubs and events.

96% of Clúid 
employees feel  
good about the  
ways they contribute 
to the community.

European Year of Active Ageing and 
Solidarity Between the Generations 
2012 marked the European Year of Active 
Ageing and Solidarity Between the 
Generations. As the largest housing  
association provider of sheltered housing  
for older people, Clúid celebrated and 
promoted the contribution older people  
make to society with a special event.
 
In September, older residents from 15 of  
Clúid’s sheltered housing schemes all over  
the country were brought together for the 
occasion which was held in the University of 
Limerick. The event included a trip to Thomond 
Park in the company of Munster rugby stars. 
Clúid also teamed up with the Irish Chamber 
Orchestra and world renowned violinist, Pekka 
Kuusisto to host a concert for residents. Local 
school children performed during the reception 
and interval, as part of the ICO’s ‘Sing Out  
With Strings’ project, a community initiative 
which supports children in Limerick’s 
regeneration areas.

Community Art Projects 
Clúid organised a number of community art 
projects across the country in 2012, to bring 
neighbours of all ages together, through 
meaningful art projects. A team of neighbours 
from Clúid’s sheltered housing scheme, Mill 
Court in Bandon, Co. Cork became involved in 
a photography project, led by local artist Mike 
Hannon. Mike engaged the group in some of 
the necessary skills and techniques involved 
in photography over the period of twelve 
weeks. Each member, many of whom had never 
held a camera before, produced a number 

of expressive images and together created a 
photographic book, short film and exhibition 
‘Grist to the Mill’ which they launched in June. 

National Community Initiatives 
In May, residents from Clúid’s housing schemes 
all over the country joined forces to take part in 
the An Taisce National Spring Clean, Ireland’s 
largest anti-litter initiative. Neighbours got 
together to pick up litter around the area 
and improve the general appearance of their 
neighbourhood, making their community that 
little bit more enjoyable. 

Young and older residents at Clúid’s housing 
schemes around the country took part in 
European Neighbours Day celebrations in 
June. One of the largest Neighbours Day 
celebrations took place in Dublin city centre 
where tenants were brought together from 
over 180 households in Killarney Court, Clarion 
Quay, Grand Canal Wharf and Rutland Street.

In October, Clúid brought older residents 
together in its sheltered housing schemes 
around the country to celebrate Positive 
Ageing Week. A number of events were  
held for older residents, friends and family,  
including games nights and afternoon  
tea events.

A number of older residents took part in the 
2012 Bealtaine festival events in May. The aim 
of the festival is to showcase the creativity of 
older people through community events. One 
highlight in Galway was an intergenerational 
day. The objective of this project was to bring 
generations together. Older residents from 

Bricks and mortar don’t make 
'a great place to live' – tenants 
and communities do. 

Thriving Communities
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Directors and Other Information

Principal activities
The association is a registered charity, the 
report and results being presented in a form 
which complies with the requirements of the 
Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012 and, although 
not obliged to comply with the following: 
Statements of Recommended Practice (SORP) 
– Accounting and Reporting for Charities 2005, 
or SORP – Accounting by Registered Social 
Housing Providers Update 2010, Clúid Housing 
Association (Clúid) has implemented many of 
their recommendations, where applicable.

The main activities of the association are 
charitable and relate to the provision of social 
housing across a wide spectrum of housing 
needs. The objectives of Clúid are charitable 
in nature, with established charitable status 
(Registered Charity No: CHY 11171). All income 
is applied solely towards the promotion of the 
charitable objectives of the association. 

 
Operating & financial review highlights
Revenue has increased by 6.6%.

Property planned maintenance has 
increased by 23.8% to €1.42m.

Surplus after taxation before property 
planned maintenance has declined 
by 7.57%.

Properties in management both owned 
and leased amount to 5,156 units - up 7%.

The first new units under debt finance 
delivered 58 apartments with an 
acquisition value of €10.3m.

Operating environment in 2012
The economic environment in which Clúid 
operates continued, as in 2011, to be 
challenging. The sector has continued 
to adapt to the new funding model and 
Clúid has been to the forefront of driving 
the changes in methods and the basis of 
facilitating the procurement of new housing 
stock. The number of units Clúid supplied to 
the social housing sector increased by 315 
to a total of 5,156 in 2012. This is testament 
to the continued innovative work Clúid has 
undertaken to ensure a continued supply to 
the sector. Of these units, 65 were sourced 
under traditional capital funding, with the 
balance of 250 coming into management under 
a number of different procurement routes. In 
2012, Clúid completed its first debt financed 
acquisition and has also commenced an 
acquisition programme under the mortgage to 
rent scheme. Clúid has been to the forefront 
of innovative schemes such as mortgage to 
rent and is working to build momentum in the 
scheme so that it can offer relief to the many 
property owners in non-viable arrears.

The core business of managing existing 
housing stock has also been affected by the 
economic environment and government policy. 
Changes in social welfare and a reduction in fee 
income have affected the income levels.

During 2012, Clúid has looked to refocus the 
business on its core strengths and taken the 
opportunity to adapt how it does business, with 
a significant investment in a centralised call 
centre and an upgrade of management systems. 
This investment creates the platform for Clúid to 
manage a significant increase in housing stock 
in the future, in line with its strategic objective of 
being to the forefront of growth in the sector.

Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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Review of Financial Outcome in 2012
The key metrics used by Clúid to monitor 
financial strength are set out in Figure 1.  
Surplus after taxation, before planned 
maintenance, is used to assess the underlying 
performance of the business, as it eliminates 
the effect arising from spend on planned 
maintenance, which is funded from 
designated reserves.

The surplus after taxation, but before 
planned maintenance, for 2012 has 
decreased by 7.57%, from €3.36 million  
to €3.10 million.

This decrease is driven mainly by:

• Increase of cost due to the introduction 
of the call centre, as the initial step in 
developing Clúid’s capacity to manage a 
larger property portfolio and a more varied 
service mix

• Increase in expenditure on responsive 
repairs. This is in conjunction with a 
restructuring of Clúid’s contracting policy, so 
as to ensure Clúid properties are maintained 
to the highest standard. This policy has 
the benefit of ensuring the reinvestment 
exposure on Clúid’s stock is reduced. 

This decrease was offset by factors which 
mainly relate to the growth in our unit base:

• An increase in the number of units 
managed and owned by Clúid has resulted 
in an increase in revenue. Combined 
with the targeting of new debt financed 
procurement, this has allowed Clúid to 
enhance its capacity to grow revenue more 
favourably than with units procured under 
leasing arrangements.

• The management of cash reserves and 
flexibility in treasury management policy has 
allowed Clúid access improved rates in the 
market for its funds.

Directors’ Report (Continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Directors’ Report (Continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Fig: 1 Year On Year Comparison 

Key Financial Metrics 2012
€’m

2011 
€’m

2010
€’m

Revenue 13.86 13.01 12.40
Expenses 10.75 9.65 9.40

Surplus after taxation before property planned maintenance 3.10 3.36 3.00

Planned Maintenance 1.42 1.15 0.40
Surplus after taxation 1.68 2.21 2.60

Assets CLSS & CAS 564.35 577.42 545.77
Housing Loans CLSS & CAS 563.44 556.79 544.88

Debt Financed Assets 10.30 - -
Related Loans 9.80 - -

Reserves 21.30 19.62 17.41
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Turnover 

Fig 2: Split of Income in 2012

Treasury Income:   4.6%

Other Income:  4.8%

Rental Subsidy Income  11.2%

Rental Income:   79.4%

% Split if

Income in

2012

Revenue and other income have increased by 
6.5% to €13.86 million. The increase in revenue 
reflects the continued increase in stock levels 
and changes in the levels of income relating 
to new units. There are four main sources 
of income: rental income, €11.01 million, 
management and maintenance subsidies, €1.55 
million, interest receivable, €0.64 million and 
other income, €0.66 million. Rental income has 
performed well, with a 6.5% increase on 2011. 
This was achieved by the addition of 315 new 
units in the year to a total of 5,166 both owned 
and leased by Clúid, and the smaller than 
anticipated fall in average weekly rent from 
tenants in receipt of social welfare. Income 
derived from management and maintenance 
subsidy did not change in 2012. A change in 

the methodology of procurement in 2012 has 
resulted in a reduction in management fees 
from last year. The growth in the income from 
interest receivable is due to proactive treasury 
management, resulting in access to improved 
rates. This has resulted in an increase of 25% in 
interest income levels, following an increase of 
48% in 2011.

Expenditure 

Fig 3: Split of Expenditure in 2012

Property Untilities: 3.4%

Repairs: 24.1%

Property Management Clúid: 12.5%

Staff Related Costs: 37.5%

IT Costs: 1.8%

Office Related Costs: 12.2%

Property Management External: 8.5%

% Split of 

Expenditure 

in 2012

Operating expenses have increased by 10.3% 
on 2011. It is the aim of Clúid to ensure our 
properties are maintained to the highest 
standard for the benefit of our tenants. During 
2012, the association spent €4.16 million on 

Directors’ Report (Continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

responsive maintenance. This represents an 
increase of 27% on 2011, while expenditure 
on planned maintenance increased by 23%. 
This investment will ensure that the properties 
continue to provide quality accommodation 
throughout their lifecycle. Non maintenance 
expenditure increased by 3.5%. This is mainly 
due to an increase in utilities and office 
running costs. It has been a key focus of Clúid 
in the last number of years to strengthen its 
capacity in key areas. This has resulted in 
significant increases in certain cost categories, 
such as staff costs and office related costs. 
This strengthening now being complete, it is 
intended in future years to target unit costs 
by driving growth in the housing stock and 
increase income levels.

Fig 4: Property type in 2012

Private Sector Lease: 1%

Managing Agent Affordable: 4%

Mgmt Agreement: 2%

Estate Management: 10%

Unsold Affordables: 12%

Cluid Owned: 71%

% Split of 

Property 

type in 2012

Reserves and Financial Position
Reserves at the year-end were €21.3 million- up 
from €19.6 million in 2011. The key constituent 
of Clúid’s reserves is the designated reserve 
for long term planned property reinvestment, 
which now stands at €19.6 million. The 
adequacy of this reserve is reviewed annually 
to ensure Clúid has the capacity to continue to 
provide quality accommodation throughout the 
lifecycle of its existing stock. It will also ensure 
that Clúid is adequately funded to meet its 
future obligations and has the capacity to draw 
on funds to ensure our standard of housing is 
maintained. Consistent with our investment 
policy these reserves are carried, in the main, as 
cash reserves. The utilisation of reserves in line 
with Clúid’s strategic goals would also envisage 
their use to facilitate the continued growth 
and development of our property portfolio. 
Such investment of reserves would only be 
undertaken where Clúid was satisfied that the 
risk to the investment was at a minimum and 
the return was at least equal to that available 
from normal cash deposits.

Investment Policy
The liquid reserves of Clúid are placed in short 
term interest-bearing deposits, with maturity 
dates designed to satisfy Clúid’s cash flow 
requirements. These deposits are placed with 
financial institutions in Ireland, and are within 
set investment thresholds. The investment 
policy adopted by Clúid has been maintained 
during 2012 to reflect the amount of reserves 
held in liquid form. The key objective of the 
policy is to ensure the appropriate use of best-
practice treasury management procedures, to 
enable an efficient management of resources.  

Directors’ Report (Continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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It is essential to have a balance between 
managing risk and contributing to the financial 
results of the association. The short term 
liquidity management aims to ensure that 
adequate funds are available to meet short 
term commitments. The long term treasury 
policy aims to ensure the facilitation of the 
strategic goals of the association to continue 
to grow as a material supplier of general 
needs housing.

Clúid finances its operations from incoming 
resources and reserves. The financial 
instruments that arise from this activity 
comprise investments, cash and liquid 
resources. Other financial instruments such 
as debtors and creditors arise directly from 
normal operations. Clúid does not trade in 
derivatives or other financial instruments in the 
ordinary course of business. Clúid’s policies for 
managing each of its main financial risks are 
broadly as follows:

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the financial 
institutions, in which liquid investments and 
cash at bank are held, may default on the 
cash deposited and the risk that debtors of 
Clúid may default on their obligations. Clúid’s 
policy is to invest in Irish credit institutions so 
accepting a lower credit rating. In order to 
address the risk resulting from the lower credit 
rating and the risk of default by Irish credit 
institutions, Clúid ensures that cash at bank is 
invested in a diverse portfolio of institutions 
so mitigating the risk. The amounts due from 
funders represent amounts owed to Clúid by 
government and local authorities for work that 
has been performed but for which the related 

funding has not been received by the year end. 
Clúid manages this risk by ensuring that all 
agreements with these funders are supported 
by signed contracts and that all reporting 
and project related requirements are fulfilled 
to ensure receipt of funding. There is not a 
significant concentration of risk and the history 
of defaults is negligible.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk exists when assets and 
liabilities attract interest rates set according 
to different bases or which are set at different 
times. In general, rates on the majority of cash 
and short term bank deposits are fixed only 
for relatively short periods. Clúid, at the end of 
2012, held three outstanding loans requiring 
the payment of interest on the amount 
borrowed and, as such, was exposed to interest 
rate risk on liabilities. With the potential for 
a growth in debt finance in 2013, Clúid has 
and will, continue to take professional advice 
on its exposure to interest rate risk and will 
ensure that potential risks are covered. The 
entering into derivatives or other financial 
instruments is not seen as part of the ordinary 
course of business and, where required, will be 
entered into on foot of direct approval from the 
Clúid Board.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Clúid might 
be unable to meet financial commitments 
arising from the cash flows generated by its 
activities. The risk can arise from mismatches 
in the timing of cash flows relating to assets 
and liabilities. Clúid’s liquidity is managed by 
ensuring that sufficient cash and deposits are 
held on short notice, and by retaining sufficient 
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reserves to cover short term fluctuations in 
income. This is monitored by an integrated 
weekly and annual cash flow model need to 
reflect a common corporate purpose where 
the long term planning is set at the core of 
decisions taken in the short term.
 
The level of debt finance envisaged in the life 
of this strategy is a reflection of our capacity 
to borrow within the current confines. The 
release of the first charge on existing units, the 
introduction of an effective regulatory structure, 
and successful relationship building enhancing 
Clúid’s financial reputation, will all work towards 
opening up further capacity.

Strategic Planning and Direction
Clúid, as an association, is changing. It has 
been changing for the last number of years 
and this process will continue in the next 
few years. To understand this change and its 
implications one must first understand Clúid 
before it changed. In brief, Clúid grew in 15 
years to own over 3,400 units, manage a further 
1,000 units, and hold reserves of €17.4m (2010 
audited accounts). The growth was based on a 
capital funding programme which Clúid utilised 
to build or acquire these units. This growth 
was achieved by working with central and local 
government. It involved taking risks and being 
prepared to be the first to adopt new ways of 
developing units. This period set the culture of 
Clúid and how it sees itself. It could not have 
been achieved without the development of 
the necessary management structures and a 
Board that fully understood and supported the 
implications and requirement of this growth 
and its associated risks.

With the demise of Capital funding Clúid 
was faced with a choice to either consolidate 
or to look to continue growth. It has chosen 
to continue to grow. The evolution from full 
capital funding to partial capital funding is still 
ongoing. Clúid has placed itself to the forefront 
of this evolution and, as the largest housing 
association in Ireland, actively developing new 
units it has looked to lead the sector. It was the 
first housing association to draw down funds 
from the Housing Finance Agency. It has also 
led the introduction of mortgage to rent and 
worked tirelessly to pull the disparate elements 
together into an effective scheme.

To lead the way on achieving these goals, 
Clúid has had to change fundamentally in 
how it views its business and the challenges 
it faces. The risks which Clúid now face have 
been incorporated into our strategy and policy 
to ensure their incorporation into the decision 
making, as Clúid continues to grow. The culture 
which was vital to Clúid’s growth in its earlier 
years still exists within Clúid. It is our goal to 
be at the forefront of change in the sector and 
look to innovative ways of doing this. Clúid 
recognises the need for continued change, and 
actively supports the introduction of a Housing 
Regulator, which it sees as a vital stepping 
stone on the way to housing associations being 
able to access the funding needed to meet 
housing needs.

The changes over the last number of years have 
seen the development of new relationships 
with stakeholders. The continued growth 
could not have been achieved without their 
support. Clúid continues to work with funding 
stakeholders to improve the capacity of the 
housing sector to access new funding streams.

Directors’ Report (Continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012



Financial Statements Annual Report 2012 7372

The Corporate Strategy: Building a 

Successful Social Business 2012 – 2015 will 
guide the activity of Clúid Housing Association 
over the coming three years. It sets out the 
objectives that Clúid intends to attain over this 
period of time. 

The key message is that of building the 
capacity of Clúid Housing Association and its 
residents to secure and sustain its mission in 
less certain times. Increasingly, we expect Clúid 
to develop independent strength as a social 
business, to invest, to lead by example and to 
influence the continued growth of the social 
housing sector and the provision of housing.

The Finance Strategy 2012 – 2015 outlines 
Clúid’s position at the onset of Debt finance as 
a means of funding the procuring of new units. 
The measures already taken have improved our 
ability to manage, control, and understand our 
exposure to the risks involved in the raising of 
debt finance for the procurement of units. The 
approach taken by Clúid is based on a need to 
ensure Clúid can operate in the medium term 
as a supplier of general need units, while still 
retaining the capacity to undertake future large 
scale developments. 

The level of debt finance envisaged in the  
life of this strategy is a reflection of our capacity 
to borrow within the current confines. Clúid is 
active in developing ways of opening up the 
restrictions of these confines. The introduction 
of a voluntary regulatory code by the 
Department for Environment, Community and 
Local Government will be the first step 
in this process which should lead to the 
introduction of a housing specific regulator. 
As this may take some time before being fully 
introduced, Clúid will look to adopt in full 
the voluntary code when it is introduced, and 
where necessary go beyond the requirements 
of the code, so as to ensure the position of 
our funders and most importantly our tenants 
is secure.

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Post Balance Sheet Events
There have been no significant events affecting 
the association since the year end that would 
require amendment to the financial statements.

Directors
The Directors who held office during the year 
are listed on page 62. During the year the 
following people were appointed as Directors 
of the association: Deirdre O’Connor (9 
February), Rachel Murphy (24 November), 
John O’Beirne (24 November), Andrew 
O’Flanagan (24 November). On 19 March 
2013 Deirdre O’Connor resigned as Director of 
the association.

Books of Account
To ensure that proper books and accounting 
records are kept in accordance with Section 
202 of the Companies Act, 1990, the Directors 
have employed appropriately qualified 
accounting personnel and have maintained 
appropriate computerised accounting 
systems. The books of account are located at 
the association’s premises at 63-66 Amiens 
Street, Dublin 1.

Auditor
Deloitte & Touche, Chartered Accountants, 
continue in office in accordance with Section 
160(2) of the Companies Act, 1963.

Signed on behalf of the Board: 

    
David Burke  Penelope Kenny 
Director  Director
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SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR CLÚID HOUSING ASSOCIATION

2012
€

2011
€

Opening income and expenditure account 781,763 623,311
Surplus for the year 1,682,954 2,210,316
Released to income and expenditure account
from designated reserves 1,420,987 1,148,136
Transfer to designated reserve (3,005,283) (3,200,000)

Closing income and expenditure account 880,421 781,763
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Irish company law requires the Directors to 
prepare financial statements for each financial 
year which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the company and of the 
surplus or loss of the company for that period. 
In preparing those financial statements, the 
Directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently

• Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and

• Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the  
company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
proper books of account which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the 
financial position of the company and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with accounting 
standards generally accepted in Ireland and 
comply with Irish statute comprising the 
Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
company and, hence, for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of  
fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

We have audited the financial statements 
of Clúid Housing Association for the year 
ended 31 December 2012, which comprise 
the Statement of Accounting Policies, Income 
and Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, 
Cash Flow Statement and the related notes 1 
to 21. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is Irish 
law and accounting standards, issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council and promulgated 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in Ireland (Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland).

This report is made solely to the company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 193 of the Companies Act, 1990. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of 
Directors and Auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements giving a true and fair view. Our 
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance 
with Irish law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment 
of: whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the company’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the 
Directors; and the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. In addition, we read all 
the financial and non-financial information in 
the Reports and Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2012, to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements. If we become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications  
for our report.

Independent Auditor’s Report To The 

Members Of Clúid Housing Association
(A company limited by guarantee and having no share capital)
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Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• Give a true and fair view, in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland, of the state of the affairs of the 
company as at 31 December 2012 and of 
the surplus for the year then ended; and 

• Have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012
• We have obtained all the information and 

explanations which we consider necessary 
for the purposes of our audit.

• In our opinion proper books of account have 
been kept by the company.

• The financial statements are in agreement 
with the books of account.

• In our opinion the information given in 
the Directors’ report is consistent with the 
financial statements.

Matters on which we are required  
to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
provisions in the Companies Acts, 1963 to 
2012 which require us to report to you if, 
in our opinion, the disclosures of Directors’ 
remuneration and transactions specified by  
law are not made.

For and on behalf of 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Audit Firm
Dublin

24th April 2013

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with accounting standards 
generally accepted in Ireland and Irish statute 
comprising the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012. 
Accounting standards generally accepted in 
Ireland in preparing financial statements giving 
a true and fair view are those published by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland 
and issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

In preparing the financial statements, 
the association has referred to guidance 
included within the following: Statements of 
Recommended Practice (SORPs); Accounting 
and Reporting for Charities, 2005 and 
Accounting by Registered Social Housing 
Providers, Update 2010, and has adopted 
best practice to the extent that requirements 
contained within the aforementioned SORPs 
are applicable to the association.

Accounting Convention
The financial statements are prepared under 
the historical cost convention.

Turnover
Turnover represents rental income receivable 
from tenants, revenue donations from third 
parties, management fees, development 
fees and revenue grants receivable from 
local authorities, the Department of the 
Environment, Community and Local 
Government and the Health Service Executive.

Development Fees
Development fees receivable are credited to 
income in the period in which the development 
work is undertaken.

Management and Maintenance Subsidies
Management and maintenance subsidies are 
payable annually by the local authorities to the 
association in respect of projects completed 
under the capital loan and subsidy scheme.

VAT
The association’s income is exempt from VAT 
and, therefore, any costs of either a capital or 
revenue nature is stated inclusive of VAT.

Pensions
The association operates a defined contribution 
scheme on behalf of certain employees. 
The scheme is financially separate from the 
association. The pension costs charged in the 
financial statements represent the contribution 
payable by the association during the year.

Tangible Assets – Housing Properties
Housing properties are stated at cost. The cost 
of housing properties includes the following:

i. Cost of acquiring land and buildings
ii. Development costs
iii. Construction.

All invoices or architects’ certificates relating 
to capital expenditure incurred in the year are 
included in the financial statements for the year.

Other fixed assets are stated at cost.

Statement of Accounting Policies
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Depreciation
LAND
Land is not depreciated.

Housing and freehold properties
The association does not charge depreciation 
on its housing properties on the grounds that 
the estimated useful lives of these properties 
exceeds 50 years.

In addition, under the terms of its loan 
agreements with the respective local 
authorities, the association is required to 
keep the mortgaged properties in good 
structural order, repair and condition and 
not to permit the mortgaged properties to 
depreciate by neglect or mismanagement. 
Detailed reviews for impairment are, 
therefore, only carried out if the Directors are 
satisfied that there are definite indications 
that impairment has occurred. The Directors 
are satisfied that an annual charge for 
depreciation would be inappropriate.

Other fixed assets
Provision is made for depreciation on all other 
tangible assets at rates calculated to write off 
the cost, less estimated residual value, of each 
asset over its expected useful life on a straight 
line basis, as follows:

Office equipment  25% straight line
Computer equipment  33% straight line
Motor vehicles  20% straight line

Housing Loans
Loans are primarily advanced by local 
authorities, the Department of the 
Environment, Community and Local 
Government, under the Capital Loan and 
Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) and the Capital 
Assistance Scheme (CAS), subject to the terms 
of individual mortgage deeds in respect of 
each property or housing scheme. Loans 
are advanced in stages as the expenditure 
is incurred and certified. These loans do not 
become repayable, provided the specific 
conditions set out in the loan agreements are 
complied with.

Specific loans are advanced by the Housing 
Finance Agency (HFA) and by the Department 
of the Environment, Community and Local 
Government under the Capital Advance 
Leasing Facility (CALF), subject to the terms 
of individual loan agreements. Interest and 
capital repayments are required to be made  
in respect of these loans.

Designated Reserve
The Association holds a designated reserve for 
the long term maintenance of the Association’s 
properties. Funds transferred into this reserve 
each year is based on an agreed ratio which 
takes account of the number of properties, 
their cost and their age profile.

Funds transferred out of reserves each year is 
based on actual spend on an agreed planned 
maintenance programme, which reflects 
the needs of our tenants and the adequate 
maintenance of our housing stock.

Statement of Accounting Policies (Continued)

Notes 2012
€

2011
€

TURNOVER 1 11,673,105 10,951,707
Operating expenses (10,631,152) (9,638,778)

OPERATING SURPLUS 1,041,953 1,312,929

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,546,640 1,545,521
Planned maintenance expenditure 10 (1,420,987) (1,148,136)
Interest receivable and similar income 638,475 509,555
Interest payable and similar charges 3 (123,127) (9,553)

SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 4 1,682,954 2,210,316

Taxation 5 - -

SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION 12 1,682,954 2,210,316

All recognised gains and losses have been reflected in the above income 
and expenditure account and result from continuing activities.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on  
24th April 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

    
David Burke Penelope Kenny 
Director Director 

Income and Expenditure Account
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012



Financial Statements Annual Report 2012 8180

Notes 2012
€

2011
€

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible assets 6 577,111,542 560,266,884
                                        

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 7 4,586,385 3,893,237
Cash at bank and in hand 18,217,592 17,114,488

22,803,977 21,007,725
CREDITORS: 
(Amounts falling due within one year)

8 (5,984,563) (4,868,958)

                                        
NET CURRENT ASSETS 16,819,414 16,138,767

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 593,930,956 576,405,651
CREDITORS:
(Amounts falling due after more than one year)

9 (572,628,875) (556,786,524)

                                        
NET ASSETS 21,302,081 19,619,127

                                        

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Designated reserve 10 19,636,160 18,051,864

Other reserve 11 785,500 785,500

Income and expenditure account 12 880,421 781,763

21,302,081 19,619,127

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 
24th April 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

       
David Burke   Penelope Kenny 
Director   Director
 

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2012

Notes 2012
€

2012
€

2011
€

2011
€

NET CASH INFLOW/
(OUTFLOW) FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

13 1,318,112 (16,394) 

RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS 
AND SERVICING OF FINANCE
Interest received 638,475 509,555
Interest paid (123,127) (9,553)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM RETURNS 
ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING 
OF FINANCE 515,348 500,002

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND 
FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

Payments to acquire tangible 
fixed assets

(17,516,515) (12,303,001)

Proceeds from sale of tangible 
fixed assets

333,825 -

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM  
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND 
FINANCIAL INVESTMENT (17,182,690) (12,303,001)

FINANCING
Net proceeds from borrowings 16,452,334 11,907,406

INCREASE IN CASH 14 1,103,104 88,013

Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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1. TURNOVER
Turnover represents rental income receivable from tenants, revenue 
donations from third parties, management fees, development fees and 
revenue grants receivable from local authorities, the Department of 
the Environment, Community and Local Government and the Health 
Service Executive.

2. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
The average number of employees during the year was 94 (2011: 91).

The staff costs are comprised of:
2012

€

2011
€

Salaries and wages 3,551,779 3,472,111
Social welfare costs 376,322 365,417
Pension contributions 141,360 152,395

4,069,461 3,989,923

3. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

2012
€

2011
€

Bank charges 9,005 9,553
Interest on loans 114,122 -

123,127 9,533

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

4. SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 
Surplus before taxation is stated after charging:

2012
€

2011
€

Depreciation 338,032 288,852

Directors’ remuneration - -

Operating lease – other 154,696 30,912

Auditor’s remuneration (excluding VAT)

- Audit 14,500 14,000

- Tax advisory services 1,900 4,900

- Other assurance services - 1,500

- Other non-audit services 3,600 900

5. TAXATION
As a result of the association’s charitable status, no charge to corporation 
tax arises under the provision of Section 207 of the Taxes Consolidation 
Act 1997.

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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6. TANGIBLE ASSETS

Land &
Housing

Properties
€

Freehold
Properties

€

Office
Equipment

€

Computer
Equipment

€

Motor
Vehicles

€

Total

€

Cost:
At 1/1/2012 557,419,653 2,323,909 571,818 683,667 47,196 561,046,243
Additions 17,202,310 - 157,148 157,057 - 17,516,515
Transfers 362,528 (362,528) - - - -
Disposals (333,825) - - - - (333,825)

AT 31/12/2012 574,650,666 1,961,381 728,966 840,724 47,196 578,228,933

Depreciation:
At 1/1/ 2012 - - 303,227 440,194 35,938 779,359
Charge for year - - 148,572 185,908 3,552 338,032

At 31/12/2012 - - 451,799 626,102 39,490 1,117,391

Net book 
values:
At 31/12/2012 574,650,666 1,961,381 277,167 214,622 7,706 577,111,542

At 31/12/2011 557,419,653 2,323,909 268,591 243,473 11,258 560,266,884

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

7. DEBTORS:
(Amounts falling due within one year)

2012
€

2011
€

Debtors and accrued income 3,894,899 3,589,310
Prepayments 691,486 303,927

4,586,385 3,893,237

8. CREDITORS:
(Amounts falling due within one year)

2012
€

2011
€

Trade creditors and accruals 4,951,285 4,457,557
PAYE/PRSI 127,736 93,998
VAT 273,229 299,567
RCT 22,330 17,836
Housing loans - HFA (Note 9) 609,983 -

5,984,563 4,868,958

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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9. CREDITORS: 
(Amounts falling due after more than one year)

2012
€

2011
€

Housing loans – CLSS and CAS* 563,438,858 556,786,524
Housing loans – HFA + CALF** 9,190,017 -

572,628,875 556,786,524

*  Housing loans are secured by specific charges on the Association’s 
land and housing properties. No capital or interest repayments are 
required to be made on the above loans, provided that the Association 
continues to comply with certain specific requirements of the local 
authorities with regard to the properties for which housing loans have 
been provided.

**  Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed charges 
on specific housing properties. Interest and capital repayments 
are required to be made in respect of loans advanced by the HFA 
and CALF.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

10. DESIGNATED RESERVE

2012
€

2011
€

At 1 January 18,051,864 16,000,000
Released to income and expenditure account (1,420,987) (1,148,136)
Transfer from income and expenditure account 3,005,283 3,200,000

At 31 December 19,636,160 18,051,864

The balance of designated reserves is an amount held for future 
maintenance on the Association’s housing properties. The adequacy  
of reserve has been reviewed by management and agreed as adequate 
to meet the release to the income and expenditure required in future 
years when the related maintenance and repairs are incurred. Amounts 
released to the income and expenditure account represent expenditure 
incurred during the year in respect of planned maintenance. The 
continued utilisation of reserves will be managed so as to ensure their 
security, access when required and return on funds from either internal  
or external investment.

11. OTHER RESERVE
2012

€

2011
€

At 1 January and at 31 December 785,500 785,500

The other reserve represents donations of land to the association  
for the purpose of social housing needs. 

These lands were utilised in the construction of social housing in  
Galway and Cork.

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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12. INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

2012
€

2011
€

Opening income and expenditure account 781,763 623,311
Surplus for the year 1,682,954 2,210,316
Released from designated reserve 1,420,987 1,148,136
Transfer to designated reserve (3,005,283) (3,200,000)

                                      
Closing income and expenditure account 880,421 781,763

13.  RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS TO NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2012
€

2011
€

Surplus for the year before interest and taxation 1,167,606 1,710,314
Depreciation 338,032 288,852
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (693,148) 5,872,605
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 505,622 (7,888,165)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 1,318,112 (16,394)

14. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN CASH FUNDS

2012
€

2011
€

Increase in cash in the year 1,103,104 88,013
                                      

Increase in net funds 1,103,104 88,013
Net funds at 1 January 17,114,488 17,026,475

                                      
Net funds at 31 December 18,217,592 17,114,488

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

15. ANALYSIS OF THE CHANGES IN NET FUNDS DURING THE YEAR

At
01/01/2012

€

Cash
flow

€

At
31/12/2012

€

Cash and other liquid resources 17,114,488 1,103,104 18,217,592

 

16. COMMITMENTS

2012
€

2011
€

Capital:

Capital expenditure which has been contracted for but 
has not been provided for in the financial statements 2,578,236 7,963,214

Leases:
At the balance sheet date the Association had annual commitment under 
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings as set 
out below:

2012
€

2011
€

Expiring:
Within one year - -
Between two and five years - -

More than five years 172,064 132,608

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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17. PENSIONS
The association operates a defined contribution scheme on behalf of 
certain employees. The contributions made in the year amounted to 
€141,360 (2011: €152,395). The balance outstanding at the year end was 
€Nil (2011: €Nil).

18. GUARANTEE COMPANY
Clúid Housing Association is a company limited by guarantee,  
having no share capital.

19. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Comparative amounts have been regrouped, where necessary,  
on the same basis as those for the current year.

20. EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END
There have been no significant events affecting the Association  
since the year end.

21. CONTINGENCIES
A number of claims have been made against the company in respect of 
personal injury and property related matters arising from the ordinary 
course of business.

The company, having taken appropriate legal advice, is defending 
any claims made against it. Provision has been made for legal and 
professional fees incurred, to date, in respect of these claims,  
but not in respect of any claims made.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont.)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  
(NOT COVERED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT)

2012
€

2011
€

Turnover
Rents 11,008,098 10,336,832
Development fees 368,840 338,484
Management fees 36,910 217,984
Other income 259,257 58,407

11,673,105 10,951,707

Operating Expenses
Staff costs 3,635,377 3,632,374
Repairs and maintenance - schemed 4,155,950 3,276,038
Insurance 357,634 385,360
Development expenditure not recoverable 198,065 426,206
Office equipment and maintenance 396,158 259,337
Travel and subsistence 338,895 331,193
Training 93,647 96,738
Telephone 111,681 89,939
Postage and stationery 171,037 185,280
Light and heat 48,719 25,598
Audit and accounting fees 20,482 38,640
Professional and consultancy fees 255,807 (157,363)
Rent and rates 158,092 126,999
Sundry expenses 123,600 41,972
Recruitment costs 7,479 22,521
Board expenses 2,557 4,548
Meeting room hire 9,999 8,810
Publications and subscriptions 35,735 13,169
Depreciation 338,032 288,852
Rent bad debt provision (15,310) 82,437
General bad debt provision 187,516 460,130

10,631,152 9,638,778

Operating Surplus 1,041,953 1,312,929

Detailed Income and Expenditure Account
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012



“ I wouldn’t swap it  

for the world. I love  

the community” 

Sheila Manhire,  
Holycross Gardens,  
Killarney (page 8)
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